

SCHOOL OF ECONOMICS AND MANAGEMENT

MSc Economic Development and Growth

AGEING POPULATIONS AND WORLD TRADE: BLIGHT OR BLESSING?

Elise Meijer

el2333me-s@student.lu.se

Since the last half of the twentieth century, population ageing has increasingly become a problem for countries all over the world. The literature on population ageing is very wellestablished, however, it is lacking in one significant respect. That is, hardly any research has been done on how population ageing may affect international trade. Therefore, this thesis seeks to establish this effect. As populations age, their old-age demographic dependency ratios increase. Furthermore, following life-cycle theory, the private consumption of the elderly decreases. With these facts in mind, an extensive gravity model of international trade is estimated, to gauge the effect of ageing on international trade, both through the use of dependency ratios, as well as self-constructed consumption ratios. Data from the NTA and AGENTA projects are used for these. I find support for my hypotheses that bilateral trade decreases in categories where the elderly are expected to consume less. Still, I find that the population age structure, and thus population ageing, influences bilateral trade, which is highly relevant for our ageing world.

Keywords: population ageing, international trade, gravity model of international trade

EKHS42 Master's Thesis (15 ECTS) May 2023 Supervisor: Tommy Bengtsson Examiner: Finn Hedefalk Word Count: 16,950

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Table of Contents	2
List of Tables	3
List of Figures	4
1. Introduction	5
2. Literature Review	10
2.1. Population Ageing and its Economic Consequences	11
2.2. Population Ageing and International Trade	14
2.3. Population Ageing and Life Cycle Theory	17
3. Methodology and Data	20
3.1. Methodology	20
3.1.1. The gravity model of international trade	20
3.1.2. Econometric challenges and estimation techniques	23
3.2. Data	25
3.2.1. NTA gravity dataset used for baseline analyses	25
3.2.2. AGENTA gravity dataset used for sensitivity analyses	30
3.2.3. AGENTA disaggregated gravity dataset used for disaggregated analyses	32
4. Empirical Results	35
4.1. Baseline Analyses	35
4.1.1. Old-age demographic dependency ratios and trade	35
4.1.2. Consumption ratios and trade	
4.2. Sensitivity Analyses	42
4.2.1. Old-age demographic dependency ratios and trade	42
4.2.2. Consumption ratios and trade	44
4.3. Consumption Ratios and Disaggregated Trade	49
5. Discussion and Conclusion	54
5.1. Implications	54
5.2. Limitations and Recommendations for Future Studies	55
5.3. Conclusion	56
Bibliography	58
Appendices	66
Appendix A. List of Included Variables	66
Appendix B. List of Included Observations in NTA Gravity Dataset	69
Appendix C. List of Included Observations in AGENTA Gravity Dataset	71
Appendix D. Alternative Estimations	72

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Descriptive statistics NTA gravity dataset 2	9
Table 2. Descriptive statistics AGENTA gravity dataset 3	1
Table 3. SITC industries used for bilateral trade dependent variables	2
Table 4. Descriptive statistics disaggregated AGENTA gravity dataset	3
Table 5. NTA gravity dataset analyses with 65+ demographic dependency ratio	8
Table 6. NTA gravity dataset analyses with 65-69 and 70+ demographic dependency ratio	9
Table 7. NTA gravity dataset analyses with 65+ consumption ratio 4	0
Table 8. NTA gravity dataset analyses with 65-69 and 70+ consumption ratio4	-1
Table 9. AGENTA gravity dataset analyses with 65+ demographic dependency ratio	.5
Table 10. AGENTA gravity dataset analyses with 65-69 and 70+ demographic dependency ratio4	.6
Table 11. AGENTA gravity dataset analyses with 65+ consumption ratio4	.7
Table 12. AGENTA gravity dataset analyses with 65-69 and 70+ consumption ratio	.8
Table 13. Disaggregated AGENTA gravity dataset analyses with 65+ consumption ratio	2
Table 14. Disaggregated AGENTA gravity dataset analyses with 65-69 and 70+ consumption ratio .5	3
Table A 1. List of included variables6	6
Table A 1. List of included variables	6 9
Table A 1. List of included variables	56 59
Table A 1. List of included variables	56 59 1 2
Table A 1. List of included variables	56 59 12 3
Table A 1. List of included variables	56 59 71 72 73 4
Table A 1. List of included variables	56 59 71 72 73 74 5
Table A 1. List of included variables	56 59 71 72 73 74 5 6
Table A 1. List of included variables	56 59 71 72 73 74 75 7 7
Table A 1. List of included variables	56 59 71 72 73 74 75 7 8
Table A 1. List of included variables	56 59 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9

LIST OF FIGURES

I gate 1. Share of population aged 05 years of over, over time, varying by 5D o region	Figure	1. Share of population	n aged 65 years o	r over, over time,	varying by SDG re	egionť
--	--------	------------------------	-------------------	--------------------	-------------------	--------

1. INTRODUCTION

Worldwide, countries are witnessing rapid rates of population ageing. This process, which entails a shift in a population's age distribution to older ages, is troubling policymakers not only in developed countries, but increasingly so in developing countries, too (Bengtsson, 2010; Jafrin, Mahi, Masud & Gosh, 2021). This can be seen in Figure 1. Nearly all the world's regions are experiencing a shift towards higher shares of people aged 65 years and over. As can be seen in the figure, this shift is most pronounced in Europe and North America, as well as Australia and New Zealand, and Eastern and South-Eastern Asia (United Nations, 2019). Still, virtually all countries are seeing their population's shares of elderly increase, and this increase is predicted to continue (Bengtsson, 2010; United Nations, 2015). For example, Sweden saw its share of people aged 65 years and over increase from 8% to 17% between 1900 and 2000, and the prediction is that it will rise even further, to reach 24% in 2050 (Bengtsson & Scott, 2010). A similar picture can be painted for, for example, Japan, Puerto Rico, and South Korea (United Nations, 2022).



Figure 1. Share of population aged 65 years or over, over time, varying by SDG region Source: United Nations (2022).

Population ageing is not a new phenomenon, however, as some developed countries already started experiencing ageing in the early 20th century (United Nations, 2015). It is only recently that it has started to become a problem, hence its policy importance. Namely, population ageing can be divided into two stages (Bengtsson & Scott, 2011). In the first stage, the increasing share of elderly is still compensated for by the fast decline in fertility. This fertility decline led to a decrease in the share of youth, which more than compensated for the increase in the share of

elderly, even leading to a decline in the demographic dependency ratio. In this stage, the working ages are thus strengthened, and population ageing is thus beneficial (Ehmer, 2017; Bengtsson & Scott, 2011). However, in the second stage, the current stage, ageing starts to become a problem. In this stage, fertility levels have stabilised at low levels and ageing becomes driven by a decline in old-age mortality rates, which pushes dependency ratios upwards (Bengtsson & Scott, 2011). The increase in life expectancy leads people to spend more time outside the labour force than in it, contrary to the increased time spent in the labour force during the first stage (Bengtsson, 2010; Lee, 1994; Rau, 2017). Therefore, ageing in the second stage puts pressure on how consumption of the elderly is funded, leading it to affect economic growth, and therefore potentially trade, too.

It can thus clearly be stated that population ageing will have far-reaching economic effects. Indeed, much attention has been devoted to how population ageing may influence pension systems. Namely, with an increasingly higher number of retirees relative to the number of people in the labour force, the budgetary pressure on pensions rises (Lindert, 2004). For example, Blake and Mayhew (2006) research the viability of the pension system of the United Kingdom. Similar analyses have also been done for other countries, such as China (Li & Mérette, 2005) or Belarus (Lisenkova & Bornukova, 2017).

Another part of the population ageing literature is aimed at the effect of population ageing on inequality, where a positive effect is often found (Deaton & Paxson, 1994). The channel through which population ageing leads to rising inequality is still heavily debated, though, as not all explanations seem to be complete (Wang, Wan, Luo & Zhang, 2017).

Research has also considered the effect of ageing on economic growth. Bloom, Canning & Fink (2011) have researched this effect and have considered the channels of labour-force participation as well as savings rates. An ageing population will have lower labour-force participation rates and savings rates. Consequently, less labour and less capital flow into ageing economies, which could have strong effects on economic growth as the ability to expand production decreases. However, this effect is different for every country, as economic behaviour and policies are of high importance in its mitigation (Bloom et al., 2011). Maestas, Mullen and Powell (2016) estimate the effect of population ageing on GDP growth in the United States. They, too, find that the size of the labour force is an important channel, but even more so is the slower growth in labour productivity of workers over the age distribution.

The effect of population ageing on consumption has also been reviewed. Specifically, according to the life-cycle hypothesis, consumption expenditures differ over the life cycle

(Modigliani & Brumberg, 1954). Stöver (2012) considers the link between population ageing and consumption in Germany, whereas Lefèbvre (2006) has done so for Belgium. Both consider the sectoral composition of consumption and find that there are indeed effects of a changing population age structure on the structure of aggregate consumption.

There is thus no lack of research on the economic effects of population ageing. Nonetheless, there is one area that has been widely overlooked, namely, the effect of population ageing and international trade (Tian, Yao, Yu & Zhou, 2011). Given the numerous effects of ageing that are found on economic factors relevant to trade, such as economic growth and consumption, it comes as a surprise that this effect has not been given proper attention.

Where research has been done on the relationship between population and trade, population is given a very rudimentary role. For example, Maddison (1995) considers the effect of population growth on trade. However, this view is very simplistic, as it disregards many important qualities of the population, such as its age structure. As the changes visible in Figure 1 point out, this characteristic should not be omitted. One needs to consider, for example, which share of the population might be productive, to draw meaningful conclusions about population growth and trade growth.

The research that does exist on population age structures and trade only examines topics related to trade, not necessarily international trade itself. Examples of this research are the influence of age structure on comparative advantages and trade openness (see Cai & Stoyanov, 2013, and Fukumoto & Kinugasa, 2017). Significant effects are found between population ageing and these trade-related constructs. Still, the only paper that, as of yet, considers the relationship between age structure and international trade directly, is that of Tian et al. (2011). They contend that demographic structure has both a scale and a structural effect on trade, where the scale effect refers to how a low demographic dependency ratio of the exporter allows them to produce and thus export more, and where the structure effect refers to how the export composition changes as factor endowments change (Tian et al., 2011). They analyse a gravity model of international trade on a panel dataset with 176 countries from 1970 to 2006. The evidence they find is consistent with their predictions, as both the dependency ratios of the exporter, as well as the importer, show a significant negative effect. However, the gravity model that they utilise is rather narrow; many of the gravity variables that the literature deems required, are missing (Tian et al., 2011; Yotov, Piermartini, Monteiro & Larch, 2016).

Therefore, this research will analyse how a population's age structure influences international trade by utilising a more widely accepted specification of the gravity model of international trade, augmented with several variables to proxy for population age structure. This research is a continuation of my previous thesis, where I also considered the impact of population ageing on international trade through the use of demographic dependency ratios (Meijer, 2022). Still, I make a clear contribution to the literature. Namely, this research contributes to the literature on population ageing, in particular, the strand focusing on international trade, which is heavily underdeveloped. As elaborated upon above, no research focuses directly on the effect of ageing on international trade, apart from the analyses by Tian et al. (2011). The model specified in this research is, therefore, a wider specification of the gravity model than theirs, taking into account more relevant variables (Tian et al., 2011, see also Meijer, 2022). What this research seeks to add above all, and what it expands upon relative to my previous work, is the consideration of the effect of the changing consumption structure of ageing populations, following the life-cycle theory (Modigliani & Brumberg, 1954). Namely, the level of private consumption throughout the life course is expected to affect import demand. To that end, this research focuses on the population age structure of the importing country. Therefore, the following research question is defined:

"Does the age structure of the importer's population influence the level of bilateral trade?" To aid in answering this research question, three sub-research questions can be defined. First, "Does the dependency ratio of the importer influence the level of bilateral trade?", and second, "Does the change in consumption over the life course influence the level of bilateral trade as populations age?", and third, "How does bilateral trade change as populations age?" These research questions are answered using three datasets. The first is a panel dataset considering 38 importing countries and 199 exporting countries in multiple years between 1980 and 2019, the second is a cross-sectional dataset considering 25 European importing countries and 199 exporting countries in the year 2010, the third is a disaggregated version of the same crosssectional dataset considering 25 European importing countries and 199 exporting countries in the year 2010. The first sub-research question shall be answered using old-age demographic dependency ratios based on data from the United Nations (2022). I find support for my hypothesis that the importer's dependency ratio has a significant negative effect on bilateral trade. The second sub-research question shall be answered using newly calculated *consumption* ratios based on data from the NTA project and the AGENTA project, and as such will take into account both changing age structures, as well as changing private consumption levels throughout the life course. I again find support for my hypothesis that the importer's consumption ratio has a significant negative effect on bilateral trade. To further dive into the reason behind these effects, I also estimate several models where trade is disaggregated into different industries, to see which industries might be driving this negative effect. These models shall be used to answer the third sub-research question, through which I find only partial support for my hypothesis that the importer's consumption ratio has a significant negative effect on trade categories of which the elderly are expected to consume relatively little.

In Section 2, I will elaborate upon the literature. I examine the literature on population ageing and its economic consequences, international trade, and life cycle theory, respectively. This section gives a good view of the gap in the literature that this research intends to fill. Section 3 shall discuss the methodology of the gravity model that is to be estimated, as well as the characteristics of the datasets that are used to estimate the models. Section 4 carefully examines all estimations. It will first review the estimations with the old-age demographic dependency ratios and the estimations with the consumption ratios, then turn to some sensitivity analyses, and then consider the disaggregated estimations with the consumption ratios. Finally, Section 5 discusses the implications of the results, the limitations of this research, as well as the recommendations for future research, and concludes. As this research is a continuation of my previous work, there may be some overlap in several sections. This is the case for Section 2, which considers some of the same sources, and Section 3, as the parts of the methodology and data are similar.

2. LITERATURE REVIEW

Population ageing has gained much attention since the second half of the 20th century. Though theories about the population's age distributions have already been around for quite some time, the world's population still had a very young age structure. Population ageing was thus not an issue, even though many Western countries were already well into their demographic transition (Goldstein, 2009). This has changed drastically since the 1960s, as fertility decreased and life expectancy rose (Bengtsson, 2010; Goldstein, 2009).

The process of population ageing started in Western Europe, where it was driven primarily by fertility declines (Bengtsson & Scott, 2010). It is often assumed that longevity increases are the main cause of population ageing, however, the process is unmistakably more complicated than that. Indeed, individual ageing is not the same as population ageing. Coale (1957) demonstrated the importance of fertility decline by showing that the age structure would have remained unchanged were it not for the decreasing fertility rates. Specifically, fewer births reduce the share of young persons in society and ultimately lead to a higher share of the elderly. It was only when fertility rates stabilised at low levels, therefore, that increased life expectancy started to propel population ageing. Videlicet, up until then, increases in longevity were driven by reductions in infant and child mortality, which only resulted in a rejuvenation of the population as more people in younger age groups remained. However, when longevity increases started to be driven by old-age mortality decreases, as fewer people were taken out of older age groups, it started to contribute to population ageing (Bengtsson, 2010; Bengtsson & Scott, 2011; Goldstein, 2009; United Nations, 2015).

As hinted at in the introduction, population ageing has widespread effects. This section seeks to review research in several strands of ageing literature, and proposes hypotheses to aid in this research. First, a closer look will be taken at several economic consequences of population ageing, to highlight the interconnectedness of demography and the economy. Then, the sparse literature on population ageing and international trade will be further elaborated upon, which demonstrates a clear gap in the literature. There is some degree of overlap between this section and my previous work (Meijer, 2022). Finally, the literature on population ageing and consumption life-cycle theory will be reviewed. This aids in the explanation of how this thesis intends to expand the demography and trade literature.

2.1. Population Ageing and its Economic Consequences

The effects of population ageing are already far-reaching. Ageing is a result of the worldwide progression in health and well-being, which reduces the mortality risks worldwide and allows people to live longer and healthier (United Nations, 2015). This undoubtedly has many positive effects, for example as individuals have better opportunities to pursue new interests or new careers later in life, as families receive support from the elderly both financially as well as with household work, and as societies benefit from civic contributions of the elderly (Ehmer, 2017; United Nations, 2015). Nevertheless, population ageing is plagued by many negative effects, as the advancement of health and well-being are leading to concerns (Rowland, 2009).

Namely, as Ehmer (2017) expresses, as a result of ageing, we now see the very institutions that were meant to promote health and well-being under pressure. Unarguably the most attention in the literature is devoted to the effects of population ageing on pension systems. It is a prime example of an institution under pressure by population ageing (Ehmer, 2017; United Nations, 2015). That is, in many countries, old-age demographic dependency ratios are on the rise. These countries are experiencing a starkly increasing number of older persons, whereas the number of people supporting these older persons, in essence, those of working ages, is decreasing (Bloom et al., 2011; United Nations, 2015). Many countries in Europe and Latin America have pension systems with a high share of public transfers. Population ageing for these systems is highly problematic, as ageing increases the fiscal pressure on these systems, reducing their viability (United Nations, 2019). Specifically, the support ratio decreases as there are increasingly fewer workers for every elderly person, and the amount of pension payout sums rise as life expectancy increases (Lindert, 2004; United Nations, 2019). Contrastingly, in systems where more weight is put on support from within the family, a lot of uncertainty arises as to how the elderly can finance their consumption (United Nations, 2019). Ageing namely reduces the number of familial caregivers, be it for monetary or other support, and increased life expectancy may lead to a higher demand for those caregivers (Kohli, 2017). The complex contrast in the pressures that arise in both systems illustrates the need for sustainable support systems (United Nations, 2019).

Unsurprisingly, therefore, the pressure that pension systems face has been researched in many contexts. An example is research by Li and Mérette (2005), who examine the effect of ageing on China's social security system, as well as economic well-being and living standards. They contend that the threefold increase in China's old-age population could have a detrimental effect on living standards. They compare several alternative scenarios where they alter the benefit rates, retirement age, and technological progress. They find that it is possible to maintain living standards for both workers and retirees by having a combined reform on all three fronts. Namely, reducing the benefit rates, increasing the retirement age from 60 to 65, and sustaining total factor productivity growth increases the potential for GDP growth, among other things, which will ensure stable living standards for all age groups. This, however, may prove difficult in China's political environment. Similar research is done by Blake and Mayhew (2006), but they consider the United Kingdom. They, too, simulate a model where they alter key concepts, such as pension age, contribution rates and economic activity rates. With immigration not truly being a viable solution to revitalise the pension system (see Coleman, 2002), they search for alternative solutions. They find that continued economic growth and other economic contributions from the current working-age generation, such as cuts in real pensions or contributing more while working, can greatly aid the situation. Another example is research by Lisenkova and Bornukova (2017), who examine the generous pay-as-you-go pension system in Belarus. They show that ageing and the generosity of the system make it unsustainable, and continue by estimating the effects of several reforms, including those that started in 2017. They find that both a reduction of pension benefits as well as an increase in the retirement age to 65 for both genders will make the system much more sustainable.

Related to the effect of ageing on pension systems is the effect that ageing has on inequality. This effect has been widely researched, as a larger group of older persons relative to the working-age population has, as discussed above, often led to reduced coverage as well as lower adequacy of pension systems (United Nations, 2015). This in turn has the potential to widen inequality, both for developed as well as for developing countries (Deaton & Paxson, 1994; Wang et al., 2017). This same conclusion is drawn by Razin, Sadka and Swagel (2002), as they find that ageing leads to smaller social transfers, especially in democratic countries, despite the increasing weight that elderly have in voting.

Though pension systems and reduced labour income have often been put forward as channels through which inequality could increase in ageing populations, there is no real consensus (Wang et al., 2017). Wang et al. (2017) find that ageing is indeed positively associated with inequality, and is also negatively correlated with labour income. They narrow it down further by considering the two components of labour income, namely, employment and wage. Even though the relationship between age and wage is negative and insignificant, there

is a negative and significant relationship between ageing and employment, indicating that reduced employment is the real driver of inequality (Wang et al. 2017).

Finally, much research has also been done on the effect of population ageing and opportunities for economic growth. In the first stage of population ageing, when ageing is driven by a decline in fertility, the growth of the working-age population compensates for population ageing. Namely, the number of young and old people decreases relative to the number of working-age people (Bengtsson, 2010). With the appropriate policies in place, there are considerable opportunities for economic growth. Therefore, this phenomenon of enhanced economic opportunity is termed the *demographic dividend* (Bloom, Canning & Sevilla, 2003). As the ageing process continues when fertility rates stabilise at low levels and old-age mortality rates decrease, however, the dividend turns into a *demographic burden*. Videlicet, the share of the elderly in the population rises, whereas a stable level of young persons is added to the population, and thus the dependency ratio rises (Bengtsson & Scott, 2010).

There are two channels through which ageing can have a detrimental effect on economic growth opportunities. Firstly, the decrease in labour supply hampers economic growth (Jafrin et al., 2021). Both consumption and, especially, production levels are agespecific (Bengtsson, 2010). As populations age, a larger share is in their non-productive retirement stage, leading to a reduction in labour-force participation (Lee, 1994). Bloom and Williamson (1998) research the economic miracle of East Asia, where the demographic transition resulted in a significant drop in the dependency ratio between 1965 and 1990. They find that the changing age structures towards younger ages are the vessel through which demography influences growth, as the labour force grows. Bloom et al. (2003) share these findings. In addition to arguing that a younger population has a larger labour supply, they also find that due to the demographic transition, family size declines, and more women enter the labour force, leading to further labour supply increases and economic growth. Like Bloom et al. (2003), Maestas et al. (2016) find that labour supply decreases as populations age and that this is an important channel of reduced growth opportunities. However, they find that this channel is not as important as another, namely the slower growth in labour productivity of workers further ahead in the age distribution. Bosworth, Bryant, and Burtless (2004) also reach the effects of population ageing, but they focus on developing countries. They, too, find that Europe and Japan experience a shrinking workforce due to population ageing and that this is why economic growth may be hampered.

Secondly, a decreased savings and investment rate in old age hampers economic growth. Bloom et al. (2003) and Jafrin et al. (2021) find that the dependent share of the population saves less than the working-age population, as people of working age tend to earn more than they consume. Furthermore, Bosworth et al. (2004) argue that there are reduced investment opportunities in ageing populations, and they find that this is indeed the case, as there will be fewer workers for which to provide equipment. This reduced investment opportunity in combination with lower savings and investment rates will have detrimental economic effects in ageing populations (Bloom et al., 2003; Jafrin et al., 2021).

2.2. Population Ageing and International Trade

From the previous sub-section, it becomes clear that population ageing thus has many detrimental economic effects. One of these effects is a reduced opportunity for economic growth. Economic growth relates very closely to another concept, namely that of international trade. Specifically, this well-established relationship between the two concepts is the reason that economic growth is so entrenched in the gravity model of international trade (Head & Mayer, 2014; Yotov et al. 2016). Considering the evidence that population ageing influences economic growth and that economic growth influences trade, it would only make sense for there to be an effect of ageing on international trade (Tian et al., 2011). Still, there is an extreme lack of research on this link. The research that does exist, however, focuses on trade-related subjects, such as comparative advantage and trade openness. These could be considered the channels through which population ageing might influence international trade.

Firstly, some research has been done on how demographic change influences countries' comparative advantage (World Trade Organization, 2013). Cai and Stoyanov (2016) highlight that variations in demographic structure between countries serve as sources for comparative advantage in trade. They go deeper than merely labour supply and argue that changes in population age structure affect the relative supply and price of skills, since skills are age dependent. When countries then experience an increase in the age of their labour force, they will gain a comparative advantage in industries in which the older group is more efficient, resulting in higher exports for that industry (Cai & Stoyanov, 2016). This is similar to the Rybczynski (1955) theorem, which posits that as a factor of production expands, the industry that uses it relatively intensively will see a more than proportional increase in output, whereas the industry that does not use it intensively will see its output decline. Contrastingly, Gu and

Stoyanov (2019) explore the loss of competitive advantage as populations age. Namely, as a person ages, their ability to keep their skills up to date decreases. An ageing population can then experience a loss in comparative advantage in industries that require up-to-date skills, reducing exports for that industry (Gu & Stoyanov, 2019).

Secondly, there has also been some research on the influence of a population's age structure on capital flows and the trade balance (World Trade Organization, 2013). Higgins (1998), for example, considers the effect of a population's age structure on aggregate savings and the current account balance. Like Bosworth et al. (2004), he finds that a younger population will have a low savings rate as the dependency burden is high, and an investment rate that starts to increase as more people become of working age. As a result, an ageing, open economy will have a current account deficit; a lot of capital flows into the country due to the investment opportunities, as the lack of own capital prevents them from seizing that opportunity (Higgins, 1998).

Thirdly, another important part of the literature is the research on the link between a population's age structure and *trade openness*, the ratio of trade to GDP. Fukumoto and Kinugasa (2017) explored this link, hypothesising that dependants consume more non-tradable goods, and that working-age persons consume more tradable goods. Their findings indeed reflect this assumption of age-dependent preferences for tradable and non-tradable goods; ageing populations have reduced trade openness. Building upon this, Fukumoto and Kinugasa (2021) analyse different regions in the world to see whether this hypothesis holds, and they indeed find evidence for this link in all regions but Africa.

These are some examples of trade-related subjects that are influenced by a population's age structure. This points to a significant influence of age structure on trade, even though the research on this relationship directly is very sparse.

Namely, the only paper that truly focuses on international trade and age structures is that of Tian et al. (2011). With a panel dataset, containing 176 countries between 1970 and 2006, they estimate a gravity model augmented with demographic dependency ratios to gauge whether a population's age structure influences its bilateral trade. They hypothesise two channels through which this influence may arise. Firstly, the scale effect suggests a low dependency ratio of an exporter enables production and thus increased exports, as the labour force grows. On the importer side, the low dependency ratio and larger labour force lead to higher income, and therefore, increased imports. Secondly, the structural effect suggests that export compositions change relative to the factor endowments of the country. A relatively young population, which

is labour abundant, will be able to export more labour-intensive products, whereas a capitalabundant country with an ageing population will experience an increase in the capital-labour intensity, and thus export more capital-intensive products (Tian et al., 2011). This, too, is in line with the Rybczynski (1955) theorem and the line of thought by Cai and Stoyanov (2016). With their gravity model, Tian et al. (2011) find support for both effects, thus deeming the age structure of a population important in determining bilateral trade.

As becomes clear from the previous discussion, there is a clear effect of a population's age structure and international trade. However, the only paper that directly considers the effect of age structure on international trade levels is that of Tian et al. (2011). This relation is strongly overlooked in the literature, and therefore, this thesis shall attempt to shed light on it. I hypothesise that age structure, captured with old-age demographic dependency ratios, will affect trade. As the view of the importer is, in the sparse literature that does exist, mostly disregarded, it will have a more central role in this thesis. In line with Fukumoto and Kinugasa (2017), I hypothesise that the non-working age population has a tendency to consume more non-tradable goods, and, in line with Tian et al. (2011), that the non-working age population generates lower incomes to fund their consumption. Therefore, I hypothesise that as the dependency ratio of the importer increases and thus the population ages, bilateral trade will decrease. My first hypothesis can thus be phrased as follows:

H1: "Bilateral trade decreases as the old-age demographic dependency ratio of the importer increases."

This hypothesis, though, has already been confirmed in the research of Tian et al. (2011). However, a piece of criticism of their research is that they utilise a rather narrow specification of the gravity model of international trade. Several variables that are essential in the gravity model, according to Head and Mayer (2014), are missing. Examples of this are GDP, whether countries are contiguous, in essence, whether they share a border, and whether they have a regional trade agreement (RTA) at that time. Given that these are factors that need to be controlled for, as their effect has been proven in countless other gravity model estimations, the true effect of population ageing becomes difficult to disentangle (Spector & Brannink, 2011). Therefore, to accurately estimate the effect of population ageing on international trade, this thesis will estimate a gravity model that takes all the important gravity-model variables into account and is thus a more widely accepted specification.

2.3. Population Ageing and Life Cycle Theory

Though it already becomes clear from the above discussion that population ageing is not without repercussions, it is often said that the actual extent to which population ageing is of influence on the economy depends on age-specific patterns of production and consumption (United Nations, 2019). For this reason, as well as the fact that consumption is proven to affect trade, consumption needs to be considered in determining the effect of population ageing on international trade (World Trade Organization, 2013). Specifically, changes in the age structure of a population can influence the level, as well as the composition of consumption (Aigner-Walder & Döring, 2012; Bengtsson, 2010; World Trade Organization, 2013). For example, after retirement, private consumption declines (see for example Battistin, Brugiavini, Rettore & Weber, 2009; Haider & Stephens Jr., 2007), whereas public consumption, constituting consumption of health care, for example, increases steeply (see for example Lee & Mason, 2011a). Thus, as populations age, the aggregate level of private consumption decreases. This is referred to as the retirement-consumption puzzle (Lefèbvre, 2006; World Trade Organization, 2013). This is then likely to impact trade flows, as the composition of import demand changes. To understand how this ageing and consumption affect trade, it is useful to first consider the theory, as well as the literature on life-cycle trends of consumption (World Trade Organization, 2013).

An important theory that links consumption to ageing is the consumption life-cycle theory, also termed the life-cycle hypothesis (Modigliani & Brumberg, 1954; Modigliani & Brumberg, 1990). Modigliani and Brumberg (1954; 1990) formulated the life-cycle hypothesis, and they theorise that individuals prefer to smooth their lifetime consumption patterns. Therefore, individuals can save when they are of working age as their income exceeds their consumption, and then they expend those savings when they enter retirement as consumption exceeds income (Modigliani & Brumberg, 1954; 1990).

At the time of formulating this hypothesis, however, empirical analysis was not possible. Therefore, by now, the theory has gained empirical support but has also been contested on several accounts (Deaton, 2005; World Trade Organization, 2013). An example of such criticism is how savings are not as rapidly expended by the elderly as assumed, since elderly persons are motivated to keep some of those savings for bequests or precaution in the case of an unexpected health or economic shock. However, each of those pieces of criticism has been carefully rebutted, and the consumption life-cycle theory remains an influential theory

that allows for the estimation of how consumption influences many important societal aspects, such as pensions and living standards (Deaton, 2005).

Unsurprisingly, much research has been done concerning population ageing and the life-cycle hypothesis. An example is the research of Aigner-Walder and Döring (2012). They contend that both the level as well as the composition of private consumption changes with the age structure of the population, following the life-cycle hypothesis. They use Austrian household-level data and find support for this. Furthermore, they use these results to make inferences about the future, as Austria is experiencing severe population ageing, to determine which consumption categories will see their shares increase. They find that there will be a decrease in the consumption of transport goods, whereas there will be increased consumption expenditures for housing, water, electricity, gas, and other fuels, as well as for food and non-alcoholic beverages (Aigner-Walder & Döring, 2012).

A similar analysis is executed by Stöver (2012), but she considers Germany. By including age-group coefficients for eight different age groups in her estimation, she attempts to estimate how consumption changes for every age group. With this, she draws inferences on the effects of population ageing on different consumption categories. She finds that food and non-alcoholic beverage consumption expenditures decrease as populations age, whereas health consumption expenditures increase as populations age (Stöver, 2012).

A final example of research that estimates the effect of population ageing on consumption is that of Lefèbvre (2006). He performs a similar study to those of Aigner-Walder and Döring (2012) and Stöver (2012) but considers Belgium. He, too, argues that consumption expenditures change over the life cycle, and thus the level and structure of aggregate consumption will change as Belgium's population ages. Like Aigner-Walder and Döring (2012) he uses household survey data to estimate the effect of age on expenditures of several consumption categories, and then forecasts consumption composition until 2050. Lefèbvre (2006) also finds that expenditures in health, housing and leisure increase, whereas those in equipment, clothing, and transport decrease.

All these studies on consumption life-cycle theory demonstrate that the population's age composition is a non-negligible factor when considering consumption. Ageing thus clearly influences both the level of consumption, as well as the composition of this consumption (Stöver, 2012). It thus comes as no surprise that this alters import demand (World Trade Organization, 2013). However, analyses that directly incorporate population ageing,

consumption, and international trade are lacking. As one can reasonably expect there to be an influence between the three factors, this thesis shall attempt to establish this effect to fill the gap in the literature.

To that end, *consumption ratios* shall be calculated. These ratios function similarly to demographic dependency ratios, in that they consider changing population age structures. However, instead of solely considering the age structure, consumption ratios also take the changing private consumption levels of different age groups into account. Their calculation shall be further elaborated upon in Section 3. The following two hypotheses are proposed based on the discussion above:

H2: "Bilateral trade decreases as the consumption ratio of the importer increases."

H3: "Bilateral trade decreases (increases) in categories where the elderly are expected to consume relatively little (much), as the consumption ratio of the importer increases."

Hypothesis 2 is similar to hypothesis 1, however, it does not take demographic dependency ratios into account, but rather consumption ratios. Therefore, here, too, I expect to find a negative effect between population ageing and bilateral trade. I expect that, as individuals retire, their private consumption decreases, following the retirement-consumption puzzle. As the elderly share in the population grows, aggregate private consumption decreases, resulting in reduced import demand and thus a lower level of trade (World Trade Organization, 2013). Hypothesis 3 goes even more in-depth. Similar to the research by Aigner-Walder and Döring (2012), Lefèbvre (2006), and Stöver (2012), I then consider disaggregated trade. This is in an attempt to see whether, like consumption, we see trade categories increase or decrease as a result of population ageing. As contended by the above authors, not all consumption categories behave the same as a result of population ageing; some categories experience an increase as the population ages, whereas others experience a decrease (Aigner-Walder & Döring, 2012; Lefèbvre, 2006; Stöver, 2012). As the population ages, the consumption categories in which elderly persons expend more will gain greater weight in the aggregate consumption structure, and thus in import demand. Therefore, I expect to see that, as a result of an ageing population of the importer, trade in those categories increases, whereas trade in other categories decreases.

3. METHODOLOGY AND DATA

To research the effect of population ageing on international trade, a gravity model will be employed. The gravity model of international trade was pioneered by Tinbergen (1962). It is one of the first applications of Newton's Law of Universal Gravitation on economic principles. Over time, the model has gained a very robust theoretical foundation, which led to its wide application in trade research. It provides an excellent explanation for the level of bilateral trade between the exporting country, the *origin*, and the importing country, the *destination* (Yotov et al., 2016). This makes it incredibly suitable for the analysis in this thesis.

In its simplest form, the gravity model of international trade shows that bilateral trade increases with economic size, measured through gross domestic product (GDP), of both the exporting and importing countries, and decreases with a higher distance, which functions as a proxy for trade costs, between the two countries (Tinbergen, 1962; Yotov et al., 2016). The gravity model utilised in this thesis shall be based on that of Tian et al. (2011), however, it shall be an extended version, such that it accounts for missing but required control variables (Head & Mayer, 2014; Spector & Brannick, 2011).

This section provides the basis upon which the analysis of this thesis will be executed. Firstly, the methodology is considered, where the gravity model applicable to this thesis is explained a little more elaborately, after which the different estimation techniques will be highlighted. To correctly estimate the gravity model, many techniques are possible, each with its advantages and disadvantages, and the choice of estimation techniques in this thesis will be elaborated upon. Secondly, the data used to estimate the gravity model is explained. I discuss the data used in the baseline estimations, as well as the data used for the sensitivity analyses and the disaggregated analyses. I also shed light on the regression assumption checks that are completed before the start of the analyses. Note, that as parts of the model and the data used are similar to my earlier work, there is some degree of overlap (Meijer, 2022). The approach is not wholly the same, though, as I take an importer-centred view in this thesis, and add the NTA approach by considering the effect of consumption in combination with ageing on trade.

3.1. Methodology

3.1.1. The gravity model of international trade

In the gravity model of international trade, the dependent variable is *bilateral trade* between the origin and the destination at time *t*. The independent variables for the estimations in this

thesis are the old-age demographic *dependency ratio of the importer*, the *consumption ratio of the importer*, the *GDP of the exporter*, the *GDP of the importer*, and the *distance* between the exporter and importer.

For the initial models, the *dependency ratio of the importer* is the measure that captures the population age structure of the importer. Following hypothesis 1, I expect to find a significant negative coefficient for this variable. Namely, as the population ages, the age group that generates lower incomes and that consumes relatively more non-tradable goods increases in size, which will lead to a reduction in trade (Fukumoto & Kinugasa, 2017; Tian et al., 2011).

GDP of the exporter and *GDP of the importer* are measures of the economic size of the country. These two variables are part of the 'typical gravity variables'-list provided by Head and Mayer (2014) and are proxies for the economic size of the trading partners. Bilateral trade increases with economic size, and therefore, I expect the coefficients of both these variables to be significant and positive (Head & Mayer, 2014; Shepherd, 2012; Tinbergen, 1962).

Another variable that is part of the 'typical gravity variables'-list, is *distance* between the exporter and importer. Distance serves as a proxy for trade costs, as these are often difficult to estimate (Yotov et al., 2016). Higher costs and thus a larger distance hampers trade, and, therefore, I expect trade to decrease with distance; the coefficient of distance is expected to be significant and negative (Head & Mayer, 2014; Shepherd, 2012; Tinbergen, 1962). The importance of distance has of course decreased in recent years, as countries become more interconnected. Therefore, I expect the size of the coefficient to become smaller when introducing time-fixed effects, as these fixed effects pick this difference up.

The other control variables added to the model are those of whether the countries have *contiguity* and thus whether they share a border, whether they have a *common official language*, whether they have ever had a *colonial or dependency relationship*, whether they have ever had a *sibling relationship*, whether they are *both GATT or WTO members* at that time, whether they are *both EU members* at that time, and whether they share a *regional trade agreement (RTA)* at that time. These control variables are thus bilateral, in the sense that they utilise information from both countries at the same time, and are taken from the 'typical gravity variables'-list of Head and Mayer (2014). All these variables, like *distance*, represent trade costs. Trade costs are very important in determining trade levels, as they have the distinct ability to reduce the level of trade both economically as well as statistically significantly (Anderson & Van Wincoop, 2004). For each of these variables, it holds that if they are true, so if they for example do share a common official language, trade is enabled. Therefore, for each of these control variables, I expect to find a positive and significant relationship to bilateral trade (Anderson &

Van Wincoop, 2004; Head, Mayer & Ries, 2010; Tian et al., 2011). The model is then as follows:

(1) ln bilateral trade_{odt}

- $= \beta_0 + \beta_1 \ln dependency ratio of the importer_{dt} + \beta_2 \ln GDP of the exporter_{ot}$
- $+ \beta_3 \ln GDP \text{ of the importer}_{dt} + \beta_4 \ln distance_{od} + \beta_5 \text{ contiguity}_{od}$
- + β_6 common of ficial language_{odt} + β_7 colonial or dependency relationship_{odt}
- + β_8 sibling relationship_{odt} + β_9 both GATT/WTO members_{odt}
- + β_{10} both EU members_{odt} + β_{11} RTA_{odt} + e_{odt}

The subscript *o* refers to the exporting country, or the *origin* country. The subscript *d* refers to the importing country, or the *destination* country. The subscript *t* refers to the time dimension. The most intuitive version of the gravity model, which is also the most-used version, is the log-linearised form. Therefore, this thesis shall also consider the log-linearised form of the model (Shepherd, 2012; Yotov et al., 2016). The model shall be estimated incrementally. As such, I start with the most reduced version, using only the GDP and distance variables as determinants of bilateral trade. For every estimation, I add variables incrementally, to see whether the new variables pick up any effects (Shepherd, 2012).

The aim of this research, however, is to not only incorporate the effect of ageing populations, but its contribution is twofold, as the aim is to also include the changing consumption habits of these populations. Therefore, instead of using the demographic old-age dependency ratios, which only capture age, I also estimate the model with the consumption ratios of the importer. Like the *dependency ratio of the importer*, the *consumption ratio of the importer* captures the population age structure, however, it also considers the changing private consumption pattern throughout the life cycle. Therefore, I expect to find a negative coefficient, conform with hypothesis 2, as older individuals consume less, and when their group grows relative to the rest of the population as the population ages, trade will decrease (World Trade Organization, 2013). The second form in which the model is estimated is then as follows:

(2) $\ln bilateral trade_{odt}$

- $= \beta_0 + \beta_1 \ln consumption ratio of the importer_{dt} + \beta_2 \ln GDP of the exporter_{ot}$
- $+ \beta_3 \ln GDP \text{ of the importer}_{dt} + \beta_4 \ln distance_{od} + \beta_5 \text{ contiguity}_{od}$
- + β_6 common of ficial language_{odt} + β_7 colonial or dependency relationship_{odt}
- + β_8 sibling relationship_{odt} + β_9 both GATT/WTO members_{odt}

 $+ \beta_{10} both EU members_{odt} + \beta_{11} RTA_{odt} + e_{odt}$

Here, too, the subscript *o* refers to the exporting country, or the *origin* country. The subscript *d* refers to the importing country, or the *destination* country. The subscript *t* refers to the time dimension.

To further disentangle the effect of both population ageing and changing consumption patterns, the second model shall also be estimated with disaggregated versions of bilateral trade. The variables shall be based on several Standard International Trade Classification (SITC) sectors, but their composition shall be further highlighted in Section 3.2. Thirteen of such sectors will be utilised, and therefore, the following model will be estimated thirteen times, each with a different dependent variable for bilateral trade:

(3) ln bilateral trade in sector i_{odt}

 $= \beta_0 + \beta_1 \ln consumption ratio of the importer_{dt} + \beta_2 \ln GDP of the exporter_{ot}$

 $+ \beta_3 \ln GDP$ of the importer $_{dt} + \beta_4 \ln distance_{od} + \beta_5$ contiguity $_{od}$

 $+ \beta_6 \text{ common official language}_{odt} + \beta_7 \text{ colonial or dependency relationship}_{odt}$

 $+ \beta_8 sibling relationship_{odt} + \beta_9 both GATT/WTO members_{odt}$

+ β_{10} both EU members_{odt} + β_{11} RTA_{odt} + e_{odt}

Again, the subscript o refers to the exporting country, or the *origin* country. The subscript d refers to the importing country, or the *destination* country. The subscript t refers to the time dimension.

3.1.2. Econometric challenges and estimation techniques

A known fact about gravity models is that their estimation is plagued by econometric problems. However, their widespread use in research and their sound theoretical base have also brought about many solutions. This sub-section is devoted to a brief discussion of these econometric problems, as well as which estimation techniques are suited to address them. The estimation techniques that are possible for gravity models, and that help in combating these econometric problems, include pooled OLS regression, fixed-effects regressions, which can take many forms, and Poisson Pseudo-Maximum Likelihood (PPML) estimations with or without fixed effects (Head & Mayer, 2014; Shepherd, 2012; Yotov et al., 2016). I will conclude this sub-section by explaining the estimation techniques used in this research.

The first econometric challenge is the issue of zero trade flows. This issue occurs specifically in the log-linearised version of the gravity model. Namely, when the variables are transformed into their logarithmic forms, observations where the trade flow takes a value of zero are dropped from the sample. The typical solution for this is to use a PPML estimation technique, since it allows for trade to be used in its multiplicative form (Shepherd, 2012; Yotov et al., 2016). For this reason, the gravity models in this analysis will also be estimated using a PPML estimator.

The second econometric challenge is heteroskedasticity. As will be explained in Section 3.2, trade data is generally very heteroskedastic, resulting in biased and inconsistent estimations when estimating the model in its multiplicative form. Therefore, a typical solution for this is again to use the PPML estimator, as it allows for the avoidance of the multiplicative form.

Furthermore, the use of robust standard errors also reduces heteroskedasticity. In the analyses, the standard errors are also clustered on distance, so that each pair of trading partners is uniquely identified to allow for correlation of the error term (Shepherd, 2012; Yotov et al., 2016).

The third econometric challenge arises because of the multilateral resistance terms. Multilateral trade resistance refers to trade barriers that every country faces with all its trading partners. These terms are mostly theoretical constructs, which are difficult to estimate as they are mostly unobservable (Adam & Cobham, 2007; Yotov et al., 2016). For example, trade between France and Italy is also dependent on how costly it is for both to trade with other countries. As the trade costs between France and the United Kingdom decline, the multilateral trade resistance of France will decrease, as it becomes less costly to trade with another country (Adam & Cobham, 2007). To control for multilateral trade resistance, exporter-fixed effects and importer-fixed effects will be used. These exporter- and importer-fixed effects also control for country-specific characteristics that are not included in the other variables, as well as the country's overall level of trade. With their inclusion, I thus expect the coefficients to change in size, as I then no longer assume coefficients to be the same for every importer or exporter. I also expect the intercepts to decrease, as all individual heterogeneity of the importers and exporters is no longer captured in the intercept, but in the fixed effects. In a similar manner, time-fixed effects are also introduced, which control for economic shocks that all countries experience in that year (Adam & Cobham, 2007; Feenstra, 2016; Hummels, 2001; Yotov et al., 2016).

The final econometric challenge can be found in the endogeneity concerns that arise when estimating the gravity model. For example, issues of reverse causality can easily arise in gravity models, but may be solved through the use of interval data, and by including multiple types of fixed effects. Another endogeneity issue is omitted variable bias, but a considerable share of this issue can be resolved through the use of fixed effects, as time-invariant omitted variables can, for example, be subsumed into the fixed effects (Shepherd, 2012; Yotov et al., 2016).

Thus, four main econometric challenges arise in the estimation of gravity models. Zero-level trade flows, heteroskedasticity, multilateral resistance terms, and endogeneity concerns may result in the inaccurate estimation of the model. However, as the above discussion proves, many of these concerns can be, at least partially, addressed through the use of different types of estimation techniques. To that end, a (pooled) OLS regression model will be estimated, as well

as a model with time-fixed effects, and a model with both time and exporter- and importerfixed effects, all with robust clustered standard errors. The combination of these models already results in a very robust estimation (Yotov et al., 2016). Even though the use of multiple types of fixed effects and robust clustered standard errors already solves most of these econometric issues, PPML models are also estimated to account for zero trade flows, and can be found in the appendices. A PPML model with fixed effects was also estimated, as well as a regression model with exporter-time and importer-time fixed effects, however, all important variables are subsumed into these fixed effects, and as they can thus not be interpreted, they will not be included in the results.

3.2. Data

After having elaborated upon the econometric issues and methods, I now turn to a discussion of the data used for the estimation of the effect of ageing on international trade. In this research, three datasets are used. The first dataset, used for the baseline estimations, only considers gravity variables at the aggregated country level. This is also true for the second dataset, which is used for the sensitivity analyses. The third dataset is highly similar to the second, but considers industry-level trade data. This sub-section highlights the characteristics of all datasets. All variables, as well as their explanations and sources are also combined in a list, which can be found in Appendix A (see also Meijer, 2022).

3.2.1. NTA gravity dataset used for baseline analyses

The first dataset used to estimate the models that were put forward in the previous sub-section is a large panel dataset with gaps. The years included range from 1981-2019, and contain data from 66 importing countries, and 199 exporting countries. The sample of importing countries consists of all countries for which data is available in the National Transfer Accounts (NTA) database. The data from this database is used to calculate the consumption ratios. As data for the consumption ratios were not available for all 66 countries in all years, as many years as possible are included in the sample. This does mean, however, that there is high variability in the years included. To keep the sample as constant as possible, data for the analyses with oldage demographic dependency ratios is gathered only for these importing countries in their respective years. A list of the importing countries included and their respective years, can be found in Appendix B. Initially, the dataset included 248 exporting countries, however, as for many countries the data quality and availability were low, these countries were dropped from

the sample. Countries that were dropped include small island nations, city-states, or territories that were accounted for by being included in other territories. A few examples of such instances are the Faroe Islands, the Cook Islands, and Monaco. After this correction, the dataset contains 31,044 observations, each consisting of a combination of one of the 66 importing countries, and one of the 199 exporting countries, in a certain year.

The data for the gravity model variables are obtained from the CEPII Gravity Database (Head & Mayer, 2014). This database is widely used, as it contains data to estimate gravity equations for any country pair between the years 1948 and 2019. The data is compiled from a wide array of sources, as will now be described. For the dependent variable *bilateral trade*, importer-reported data from the IMF were used. Importer-reported data are often deemed more accurate than exporter-reported data, as importers have incentives to correctly report data for example to ensure the correct income earned from tariffs. The data is divided by the CPI to obtain real values (Eurostat, 2023b; OECD, 2023; World Bank, 2023a). Following the discussion in the previous sub-section, the data for *bilateral trade* was transformed into its logarithmic form in all non-PPML estimations, as it is used in its multiplicative form in those.

Data for both *GDP* variables were obtained from the World Bank's Development Indicators (WDI) and are also divided by the CPI to obtain real values (Eurostat, 2023b; OECD, 2023; World Bank, 2023a; World Bank, 2023b). This data was also log-transformed, as it allows for a more straightforward interpretation of the coefficients.

Data for the *distance*, the *contiguity*, and the presence of a *common official language* between the origin and destination countries, were derived from the CEPII GeoDist Database (Mayer & Zignago, 2011). The *distance* is as measured between the capitals of the two trading partners, and is also log-transformed following literature. This transformation, however, results in more skewed data. When performing the estimations, a check is done where *distance* is used in the model in its multiplicative form, however, the difference in results is very limited (see also Meijer, 2022). *Contiguity* is a dummy variable equal to 1 when the two trading partners are contingent and thus share a border. *Common official language* is also a dummy variable, which takes a value of 1 when the two trading partners share an (official) language.

Data for the *colonial or dependency relationship* and whether there has ever been a *sibling relationship* between the trading partners is taken from the Colonial Ties Dataset (Head, Mayer & Ries, 2010). Both these variables are dummy variables that take a value of 1 when the trading partners have ever been in such a relationship.

Finally, three dummies represent trade agreements or similar institutions, namely whether the trading partners are *both GATT/WTO members*, whether they are *both EU members*, and whether they have an *RTA* at that time. *Both GATT/WTO members* was compiled from four variables in the CEPII Gravity Database. Initially, they were unilateral variables, where there was a variable for exporter membership of the GATT, one for importer membership of the GATT, one for exporter membership of the WTO, and one for importer membership of the WTO. The information from these variables was used to create one bilateral variable, which takes a value of 1 when both the trading partners are a member of the GATT or the WTO at that point. The same was done for *both EU members*; it, too, was compiled based on two unilateral variables indicating membership of the exporter and importer separately. This variable also takes a value of 1 if both trading partners are EU members at that point. The variable for the presence of an *RTA* also takes a value of 1 if the trading partners are in a regional trade agreement at that point (Head & Mayer, 2014).

In the category of the population age structure variables, there are two groups. The first group consists of the old-age demographic dependency ratios. The dependency ratios are used in the estimation to determine the effect of population ageing on international trade, without regard for changing consumption patterns. The dependency ratios are calculated based on data from the United Nations World Population Prospects (United Nations, 2022). The UN provides data of one-year age groups, separate for every sex or a total, which allows for the calculations of dependency ratios for the same age groups as for the consumption ratios. The dependency ratios are constructed as the number of people in a certain age group, relative to the number of people of working age, i.e., those in the ages of 20 to 64. Using the total data for every one-year age group, the totals for different age groups are calculated. For example, the dependency ratio for ages 65-69 is calculated as the number of people aged 65-69, relative to the number of people aged 20-64. The baseline model includes only the 65+ dependency ratio, however, for comparability to the consumption ratio models, and to extract additional information, this age group is split. The age groups for which the ratios are calculated are 65+, 65-69, 70+, 70-74, 75-79, and 80+, and are used in a variety of combinations in the estimations.

The second group consists of the consumption ratios. The consumption ratios are calculated based on private consumption data from the NTA database (Lee & Mason, 2011b). The NTA project aims to construct data that can help in understanding how population growth and changing population age structures influence constructs such as pensions, economic growth, the contribution of women, and public finances, among others (Lee & Mason, 2011b).

Consumption ratios are constructed to capture not only the changing population age structure, as when populations age, older age groups grow relative to younger age groups in the population, but also the changing consumption pattern at older ages. They thus contain more information than the dependency ratios. For example, Italy has an old-age 65+ dependency ratio of 0.33 in 2008, whereas its 65+ consumption ratio is lower at a value of 0.22 in that year. The consumption ratio takes the age structure into account, but also demonstrates that the elderly consume less, reducing the ratio. An elaborate discussion of this is provided in Sections 2.1 and 2.3. The NTA database provides data on the aggregate private consumption level for every one-year age group. It should be noted, however, that the data on consumption is not as accurate as their data on income. Namely, the NTA income data is based on income tax reports, for example, whereas consumption data is based mostly on surveys (Lee & Mason, 2011a; Lee & Mason, 2011b). This may reduce the accuracy of the consumption ratios. The consumption ratios are constructed as the private consumption of the relevant age group, relative to the private consumption of the total population. The age groups for which the ratios are calculated are again 65+, 65-69, 70+, 70-74, 75-79, and 80+. For example, the consumption ratio of ages 65-69 is calculated as the aggregate consumption of everyone in this age group, divided by the aggregate consumption of everyone in the population. The baseline model includes only the 65+ consumption ratio. However, as even after age 65, consumption patterns still change, splitting this age group up provides more information. To that end, consumption ratios for the five-year age groups, the 70+ age group, and the 80+ age group are estimated. The models will be estimated with a wide variety of combinations, to gain as much information as possible from these ratios.

The descriptive statistics for this dataset are shown in Table 1. Of note is that for all continuous variables, normality is approached. The skewness is in all instances relatively close to zero, and the kurtosis relatively close to three. This cannot be said for distance. However, as mentioned above, using the multiplicative form of distance does not change the results of the estimations notably. It is also important to note that there is quite a high variability in some cases, for example when looking at *bilateral trade*, *GDP of the exporter*, and *GDP of the importer*. This, however, is easily explained by the high diversity of the countries present in the dataset.

Table 1. Descriptive statistics NTA gravity dataset

···· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·							
Variables	Obs.	Mean	Std. Dev.	Min	Max	Skew.	Kurt.
Log of Aggregate Bilateral Trade	23895	4.8736	4.444	-11.5117	15.2965	407	2.7255
Log of 65+ Consumption Ratio Importer	31044	-2.3826	.6535	-3.7107	-1.4036	3559	1.7498
Log of 65-69 Consumption Ratio Importer	31044	-3.4691	.5022	-4.6448	-2.5935	4478	1.952
Log of 70+ Consumption Ratio Importer	31044	-2.8084	.741	-4.3384	-1.7122	3388	1.7635
Log of 70-74 Consumption Ratio Importer	31044	-3.731	.5871	-5.1412	-2.7385	4461	1.9222
Log of 75-79 Consumption Ratio Importer	31044	-4.075	.7323	-5.8958	-2.9837	4432	1.9173
Log of 80+ Consumption Ratio Importer	30845	-3.9996	.9851	-6.3823	-2.3639	3398	1.9962
Log of 65+ Dependency Ratio Importer	31044	-1.9427	.5177	-3.0171	-1.096	2764	1.7215
Log of 65-69 Dependency Ratio Importer	31044	-3.0184	.3945	-3.9081	-2.2457	3426	1.904
Log of 70+ Dependency Ratio Importer	31044	-2.3691	.5891	-3.6015	-1.4199	2721	1.7116
Log of 70-74 Dependency Ratio Importer	31044	-3.2726	.4692	-4.3106	-2.4279	2756	1.7617
Log of 75-79 Dependency Ratio Importer	31044	-3.6064	.5836	-4.8418	-2.6718	2782	1.7291
Log of 80+ Dependency Ratio Importer	31044	-3.5989	.7917	-5.2643	-2.3515	3333	1.8454
Log of GDP Exporter	28078	12.4807	2.3401	6.0978	19.1073	.1607	2.5706
Log of GDP Importer	31044	15.0513	2.6086	7.9078	18.9245	3435	2.3687
Log of Distance	30006	8.8494	.7461	1.8707	9.901	-1.7728	7.8863
Contiguity Dummy	29789	.0186	.135	0	1	7.1335	51.8869
Common Language Dummy	30006	.1496	.3567	0	1	1.9651	4.8617
Colonial or Dependency Relations	30463	.0156	.1239	0	1	7.8197	62.1485
Sibling Relationship Dummy	30463	.1979	.3984	0	1	1.5164	3.2995
Both GATT/WTO Member Dummy	31044	.6756	.4681	0	1	7503	1.5629
Both EU Member Dummy	31044	.0173	.1304	0	1	7.4046	55.8277
RTA Dummy	30474	.1139	.3177	0	1	2.4312	6.9106

Notes: This table depicts the descriptive statistics of the first gravity dataset, of which the sample is based on the NTA database. This dataset covers the years 1981-2019, with 66 importing countries and 199 exporting countries. Shown in this table are the number of observations, the mean, the standard deviation, the minimum, the maximum, the skewness, and the kurtosis for each variable.

An important step before turning to the analyses is determining if the regression assumptions are satisfied. Firstly, I check for the presence of heteroscedastic errors. After checking the data visually by plotting the residuals of the regression against the fitted values, it becomes clear that there is indeed a high level of heteroskedasticity, which is confirmed by the modified Wald test for groupwise heteroskedasticity. The null hypothesis of this test is a constant variance for all cross-sectional units, which is rejected with a Chi-squared value of 6.0e+8 (p-value = 0.0000) (Baum, 2000). As mentioned in Section 3.1, the PPML estimator and the use of robust standard errors address heteroskedastic errors (Head & Mayer, 2014; Shepherd, 2012).

Secondly, I test for the presence of multicollinearity. I find relatively high correlations between the four old-age demographic dependency ratios, and the four consumption ratios (age categories 65-69, 70-74, 75-79, and 80+) when they are present in the same model. For example, between the 65-69 consumption ratio and the 70-74 consumption ratio, the correlation coefficient takes a value of $\rho = -0.65$. To formally check whether any action is required against these multicollinearity levels, the Variance Inflation Factor is checked against a value of 10 (Hair, Anders, Tatham, & Black, 1995). If the VIF is higher than the threshold value, action has to be taken. The VIF reaches very high levels when all consumption or dependency ratios are entered in the same model, and therefore, several shall be omitted; not much information is lost if they correlate so highly. They shall therefore be entered in separate models, in a variety of combinations.

Finally, I check for the presence of serial correlation. The Woolridge test for serial correlation in panel data performs a Wald test, with the null hypothesis that there is no first-order autocorrelation (Woolridge, 2001). The null hypothesis is rejected (F = 72.576, p-value

= 0.0000) and thus there is first-order autocorrelation in the data. However, this can be aided by opting for clustered standard errors (Cameron & Miller, 2015).

3.2.2. AGENTA gravity dataset used for sensitivity analyses

The second dataset, used for the sensitivity estimations in this thesis, is a large cross-sectional dataset. The dataset contains data for the year 2010, for 25 importing countries, and again 199 exporting countries. The year 2010 was chosen as that was the only year for which data for the consumption ratios was available. Therefore, this sample, too, is based on all importing countries for which data is available in the European National Transfer Accounts (AGENTA) database. Again, this data is used to calculate the consumption ratios, and to keep the sample as constant as possible, data for the old-age demographic dependency ratios is also only gathered for these importers in 2010. A list of all included importing countries, however, the same instances (i.e., small island nations, city-states, and territories that were otherwise accounted for) were dropped from the sample, leaving 199 exporting countries. After this correction, the dataset contains 4,975 observations, where each observation is a combination of one of the 25 importing countries and one of the 199 exporting countries in 2010.

The gravity-model variables for this dataset are the same as those obtained and calculated for the NTA gravity dataset, as explained in Section 3.2.1 (Head & Mayer, 2014). The old-age demographic dependency ratios are also calculated in the same way as for the NTA gravity dataset, and based on the same UN data (United Nations, 2022). The big difference, however, between the datasets is the source of the data for the consumption ratios. Specifically, for this dataset, the data is obtained from the AGENTA database. The AGENTA project is a European version of the NTA project and aims at supplying data to accurately estimate age-specific economic behaviour (Istenič et al., 2016).

The AGENTA database supplies data in per capita terms. Therefore, to calculate the consumption ratios, first, all the private consumption levels of the age groups will be calculated. The same age groups as in the NTA gravity dataset are used, namely, 65+, 65-69, 70+, 70-74, 75-79, and 80+, as this allows for comparability to the NTA results, as well as the estimation of a wide variety of models. After calculating the levels of private consumption for each of the age groups, the levels are multiplied by the size of each relevant age group, based on data from the United Nations World Population Prospects (United Nations, 2022). The same is done for aggregate private consumption, of all ages, which is multiplied by the entire population. Finally, the consumption ratios are calculated, again, as the consumption level of the relevant

age group relative to the entire consumption level of the population, similar to the NTA gravity dataset.

The descriptive statistics of the AGENTA gravity dataset can be found in Table 2. We again see that many continuous variables approach normality, but that the variability is in most instances smaller than in the NTA gravity dataset, especially in the case of the importercharacteristic variables, as we consider only European countries in this dataset, which are much more similar to one another than if we compare a developed to a developing country. For example, we see that the 65+ consumption ratio has a larger mean here, but that the variability is much smaller than for the NTA gravity dataset.

Table 2. Descriptive statistics AGENTA gravity dataset

L			0				
Variables	Obs.	Mean	Std. Dev.	Min	Max	Skew.	Kurt.
Log of Bilateral Trade	4296	4.3279	4.4552	-10.7364	13.9361	4447	2.6855
Log of 65+ Consumption Ratio Importer	4975	-3.3208	.2004	-3.7752	-3.0171	7844	2.7646
Log of 65-69 Consumption Ratio Importer	4975	-5.7404	.1561	-6.0607	-5.5363	5412	2.2548
Log of 70+ Consumption Ratio Importer	4975	-4.0332	.2324	-4.5435	-3.6566	7619	2.7531
Log of 70-74 Consumption Ratio Importer	4975	-5.8787	.2155	-6.361	-5.5198	4005	2.5596
Log of 75-79 Consumption Ratio Importer	4975	-6.069	.2398	-6.6083	-5.6929	657	2.6807
Log of 80+ Consumption Ratio Importer	4975	-7.3942	.2988	-8.0052	-6.7692	3898	2.7008
Log of 65+ Dependency Ratio Importer	4975	-1.3242	.1769	-1.7366	-1.0876	9452	2.9348
Log of 65-69 Dependency Ratio Importer	4975	-2.5751	.1534	-2.9066	-2.334	5308	2.3568
Log of 70+ Dependency Ratio Importer	4975	-1.9529	.5521	-3.3635	-1.4361	-1.2795	3.3221
Log of 70-74 Dependency Ratio Importer	4975	-2.702	.1943	-3.0916	-2.3327	3771	2.5373
Log of 75-79 Dependency Ratio Importer	4975	-2.9145	.1961	-3.4046	-2.6322	9433	3.3257
Log of 80+ Dependency Ratio Importer	4975	-2.6948	.2414	-3.2724	-2.3379	6993	2.6838
Log of GDP Exporter	4600	12.7614	2.3054	7.3995	18.9072	.1146	2.5357
Log of GDP Importer	4975	14.7126	1.5157	12.2631	17.4288	.1398	2.0957
Log of Distance	4876	8.4265	.9111	2.9511	9.8826	-1.2599	4.8846
Contiguity Dummy	4825	.0191	.1368	0	1	7.0331	50.4651
Common Language Dummy	4876	.0562	.2303	0	1	3.8542	15.8552
Colonial or Dependency Relations	4951	.0307	.1725	0	1	5.441	30.604
Sibling Relationship Dummy	4951	.0477	.2131	0	1	4.246	19.0289
Both WTO Member Dummy	4975	.7487	.4338	0	1	-1.147	2.3156
Both EU Member Dummy	4975	.1357	.3425	0	1	2.1278	5.5273
RTA Dummy	4951	.3236	.4679	0	1	.7542	1.5689

Notes: This table depicts the descriptive statistics of the second gravity dataset, of which the sample is based on the AGENTA database. This dataset covers the year 2010, with 25 importing countries and 199 exporting countries. Shown in this table are the number of observations, the mean, the standard deviation, the minimum, the maximum, the skewness, and the kurtosis for each variable.

Finally, regression assumption checks for this dataset will also be done. Firstly, I check for the presence of heteroscedastic errors through both a visual check and by using a Breusch-Pagan test for heteroskedasticity. Visually, there appears to be heteroskedasticity, and indeed, the null hypothesis of constant variance is rejected with a Chi-squared value of 831.13 (p-value = 0.0000) (Breusch & Pagan, 1979). Again, to combat this, the PPML estimator as well as robust standard errors will be used (Head & Mayer, 2014; Shepherd, 2012).

Secondly, I check for the presence of multicollinearity. There is again multicollinearity when all old-age demographic dependency ratios or all consumption ratios are entered in the same model, though in most cases to a lesser extent than in the case of the NTA gravity dataset. For example, between the 65-69 consumption ratio and the 70-74 consumption ratio, the correlation coefficient takes a value of $\rho = -0.60$, which is slightly lower than in the previous dataset. When evaluating the multicollinearity with all the dependency ratios, and all the

consumption ratios, however, the VIF rises slightly above 10. Therefore, again, a wide variety of models will be estimated, such that it can be avoided to have all consumption ratios in the same model together without much loss of information (Hair et al., 1995).

3.2.3. AGENTA disaggregated gravity dataset used for disaggregated analyses

The final dataset which will be used to estimate the effect of ageing and changing consumption patterns on international trade is the AGENTA disaggregated gravity dataset. The same 25 importing countries that are used in the AGENTA gravity dataset will be used, and again only in the year 2010, due to data availability (Istenič et al., 2016). The difference between this dataset and the AGENTA gravity dataset is that there are thirteen dependent variables included, and only 25 exporting countries, rather than the single dependent variable and 199 exporting countries. Specifically, I calculate *bilateral trade* for thirteen SITC industries based on Eurostat data (2023a; United Nations, 2006). Eurostat data was chosen as it is very reliable and easily accessible. However, as it does not cover countries outside Europe, I opted for a reduction in the number of exporting countries, and as a result, the 25 countries in the AGENTA database are in the dataset as both importers and exporters.

The thirteen *bilateral trade* variables are thus calculated based on Eurostat (2023a) data. They are transformed into real values by deflating them with their respective industry CPI, also gathered from Eurostat (2023b). The industries that are used as dependent variables are selected for their resemblance to consumption categories in studies like those of Stöver (2012). The following categories are used:

Model nr.	SITC code	Category
1	0	Food and live animals
2	111	Non-alcoholic beverages
3	112	Alcoholic beverages
4	12	Tobacco and tobacco manufactures
5	84	Articles of apparel; clothing accessories
6	85	Footwear
7	77	Electrical machinery, apparatus and appliances, and electrical parts thereof
8	82	Furniture and parts thereof
9	54	Medicinal and pharmaceutical products
10	3	Mineral fuels
11	78	Road vehicles
12	79	Other transport equipment
13	76	Telecommunications and sound-recording and reproducing apparatus and equipment

 Table 3. SITC industries used for bilateral trade dependent variables

It should be noted, however, that these categories could never wholly line up with the categories of the different consumption purposes. The reason is that consumption purposes look at goods from a demand perspective, whereas the SITC industry classification looks at goods from a supply perspective. However, a careful revision shows that these categories come close, and though not all consumption purpose categories can be included (housing, for example, cannot be internationally traded), there is at least overlap for several categories.

The data for the other gravity-model variables, as well as the consumption and dependency ratios, is the same as for the AGENTA gravity database, but now for a smaller category of exporting countries. The descriptive statistics for this disaggregated database are depicted in Table 4. Notably, the descriptives for the *GDP of the exporter* and the *GDP of the importer* are the same, as the same countries are used in both cases. Furthermore, as all exporting and importing countries are EU members and WTO members, these two dummy variables have both a minimum and a maximum value of 1, and no distribution among them.

-		00 0					
Variables	Obs.	Mean	Std. Dev.	Min	Max	Skew.	Kurt.
Log of Bilateral Trade Food	596	12.4989	2.641	8895	17.8234	6118	4.011
Log of Bilateral Trade Non-Alc. Beverages	464	8.4437	3.019	-4.5271	15.168	5836	3.7335
Log of Bilateral Trade Alc. Beverages	540	9.6488	2.9142	2096	16.5086	3497	2.8155
Log of Bilateral Trade Tobacco	388	9.4215	3.1421	-2.9177	15.7483	8093	4.0012
Log of Bilateral Trade Apparel	593	10.9396	2.9868	1.4313	16.9988	5578	2.9865
Log of Bilateral Trade Footwear	558	9.5181	3.3207	-2.3299	16.1567	6589	3.2016
Log of Bilateral Trade Appliances	596	12.2448	2.6964	1.086	17.9809	683	3.8405
Log of Bilateral Trade Furniture	585	10.3714	2.9413	-2.5812	16.9336	6259	3.4727
Log of Bilateral Trade Medicine	575	11.6179	3.1024	-2.3299	18.419	6845	3.8209
Log of Bilateral Trade Fuels	529	10.7626	3.7199	6559	18.4327	5176	2.9341
Log of Bilateral Trade Vehicles	591	12.1529	3.1854	1.8896	18.8724	3871	2.739
Log of Bilateral Trade Other Trans. Equip.	505	9.6259	3.3797	0053	18.736	3878	2.9967
Log of Bilateral Trade Telecomm. Equip.	595	11.544	2.8769	.9701	16.8683	6835	3.4659
Log of 65+ Consumption Ratio Importer	625	-3.3208	.2005	-3.7752	-3.0171	7844	2.7646
Log of 65-69 Consumption Ratio Importer	625	-5.7404	.1562	-6.0607	-5.5363	5412	2.2548
Log of 70+ Consumption Ratio Importer	625	-4.0332	.2325	-4.5435	-3.6566	7619	2.7531
Log of 70-74 Consumption Ratio Importer	625	-5.8787	.2156	-6.361	-5.5198	4005	2.5596
Log of 75-79 Consumption Ratio Importer	625	-6.069	.24	-6.6083	-5.6929	657	2.6807
Log of 80+ Consumption Ratio Importer	625	-7.3942	.299	-8.0052	-6.7692	3898	2.7008
Log of 65+ Dependency Ratio Importer	625	-1.3242	.177	-1.7366	-1.0876	9452	2.9348
Log of 65-69 Dependency Ratio Importer	625	-2.5751	.1535	-2.9066	-2.334	5308	2.3568
Log of 70+ Dependency Ratio Importer	625	-1.9529	.5525	-3.3635	-1.4361	-1.2795	3.3221
Log of 70-74 Dependency Ratio Importer	625	-2.702	.1944	-3.0916	-2.3327	3771	2.5373
Log of 75-79 Dependency Ratio Importer	625	-2.9145	.1962	-3.4046	-2.6322	9433	3.3257
Log of 80+ Dependency Ratio Importer	625	-2.6948	.2416	-3.2724	-2.3379	6993	2.6838
Log of GDP Exporter	625	14.7126	1.5168	12.2631	17.4288	.1398	2.0957
Log of GDP Importer	625	14.7126	1.5168	12.2631	17.4288	.1398	2.0957
Log of Distance	625	6.9869	.7988	2.9511	8.2339	-1.4448	5.7825
Contiguity Dummy	625	.1024	.3034	0	1	2.6229	7.8797
Common Language Dummy	625	.0352	.1844	0	1	5.0444	26.4456
Colonial or Dependency Relations	625	.0192	.1373	0	1	7.0073	50.1029
Sibling Relationship Dummy	625	.0416	.1998	0	1	4.5915	22.0819
Both WTO Member Dummy	625	1	0	1	1		
Both EU Member Dummy	625	1	0	1	1		
RTA Dummy	625	.96	.1961	0	1	-4.6949	23.0417

Table 4. Descriptive statistics disaggregated AGENTA gravity dataset

Notes: This table depicts the descriptive statistics of the third gravity dataset, of which the sample is based on the AGENTA database, and of which bilateral trade is considered in disaggregated forms. This dataset covers the year 2010, with 25 importing countries and 199 exporting countries. Shown in this table are the number of observations, the mean, the standard deviation, the minimum, the maximum, the skewness, and the kurtosis for each variable.

For all models, I check whether the relevant regression assumptions hold in the same way as was done for the AGENTA gravity dataset. The presence of heteroskedastic errors is found for all models, first visually, but also through the Breusch-Pagan test for heteroskedasticity. For all models, the null hypothesis of constant variance is rejected with a Chi-squared value ranging between 41.26 and 174.92 (p = 0.000) (Breusch & Pagan, 1979). Again, to combat this, the PPML estimator as well as robust standard errors will be used (Head & Mayer, 2014; Shepherd, 2012). There is also some multicollinearity in the data. Again, this only arises when all dependency ratios and all consumption ratios are estimated in the same model. Then, their VIF rises above 10, and the correlation coefficients are larger. To minimise this effect, the models will be estimated in a myriad of ways, with different combinations of dependency and consumption ratios (Hair et al., 1995).

4. EMPIRICAL RESULTS

After having carefully explained the models, estimation techniques, and data, this section turns to the estimation results. Section 4.1 considers the results of the estimation of equations (1) and (2), with the NTA gravity dataset. Section 4.2 then explains the results of the estimation of equations (1) and (2), but then with the AGENTA gravity dataset, as a sensitivity analysis. Finally, Section 4.3 highlights the results of the estimation of equation (3) with the AGENTA disaggregated gravity dataset.

4.1. Baseline Analyses

4.1.1. Old-age demographic dependency ratios and trade

The first set of models to evaluate, concerns the incremental estimations of equation (1), to see whether I can find support for hypothesis 1. I determine the effect of population ageing, measured with old-age demographic dependency ratios on trade, based on the NTA gravity dataset. The results of these estimations are depicted in Table 5, and the full results including coefficients and significance levels for the controls are shown in Table D1 of Appendix D. The model is estimated incrementally to see which variables relate to each other, and to preserve the number of observations. Model 1 depicts the most basic version of the gravity model, without any fixed effects. The variables are all significant at the 1% level, as is the model, and the model has an adjusted R-squared of 0.696. Therefore, almost 70% of the variation in *bilateral trade* is explained by the model.

Model 2 adds the variable for the 65+ *dependency ratio of the importer*. The coefficients and significance levels of the other variables do not change much, and neither does the adjusted R-squared. The model is still significant at the 1% level.

Model 3 adds variables for whether the trading partners are contiguous and whether they share a common (official) language. Both these variables are positive and significant, as hypothesised. Compared to Model 2, the 65+ *dependency ratio of the importer* is now insignificant. The adjusted R-squared slightly increases with this, the model is still significant at the 1% level.

Model 4 adds variables for colonial and sibling relationships. As expected, both are positive and significant. The other variables change slightly in size, though their sign and significance remain the same. The adjusted R-squared again slightly increases, and the model is still highly significant.

Model 5 adds the final variables, namely those depicting trade-facilitating agreements. Still, the 65+ *dependency ratio of the importer* is insignificant. The influences of *both GATT/WTO member* and *both EU member* are insignificant, and the *both EU* member variable is negative, contrary to what was hypothesised. The *RTA* variable is, however, positive and significant, as was expected. The adjusted R-squared again increases slightly, and the model is still significant at the 1% level.

Model 6 is the complete model with all previous variables, and adds time-fixed effects. With the inclusion of these effects, all other previous variables become highly significant, and apart from the EU membership variable, they follow their hypothesised signs. As expected, with the declining importance of distance over time, the inclusion of time-fixed effects leads to a smaller coefficient for the *distance* variable. The dependency ratio variable, however, is still insignificant. The model is still highly significant, and the adjusted R-squared increases slightly.

Finally, model 7 adds importer- and exporter-fixed effects. As a result, all variables, apart from *both GATT/WTO member*, are significant. The 65+ *dependency ratio of the importer*, however, as well as *both EU member*, are not following their hypothesised signs. Furthermore, many variables decrease greatly in size, such as the *GDP of the exporter* and the *GDP of the importer*, as parts of their effects are now subsumed into the importer and exporter fixed effects. The R-squared did increase again, and the model is still highly significant.

Overall, it can be said that many variables line up with the expectations. This is not the case, however, for the main independent variable, the 65+ dependency ratio of the importer. I only find support for hypothesis 1 in Model 2, though this model is missing many important variables and is thus not complete. In Model 2, the 65+ dependency ratio of the importer has a 5%-significant value of -0.1491, and thus as the 65+ dependency ratio of the importer increases by 1%, bilateral trade decreases with 0.15%, ceteris paribus.

Overall, the results display very constant effects throughout the estimations, though they are very variable for the old-age demographic dependency ratio. Therefore, to perhaps gather more information about the age structure of the importer populations, the models are estimated again, but this time with the *65-69 dependency ratio of the importer* and the *70+ dependency ratio of the importer*. This is done both to take an alternative version of the old age dependency ratio, as 70+ is also often used as a cut-off point, rather than 65+, but also to facilitate comparability to the consumption ratio models. The results are depicted in Table 6. The adjusted R-squared values and model significance levels are highly similar to the results with only the *65+*
dependency ratio of the importer. Though the other variables included in the model hardly change in their sign, size, and significance, more support is found for hypothesis 1. Namely, in all models but Model 7, the 70+ *dependency ratio of the importer* returns negative and highly significant, meaning that bilateral trade indeed decreases as populations age.

As described in Section 3, estimations using the Poisson Pseudo-Maximum Likelihood (PPML) estimator will also be done, the results of which can be found in Appendix D, in Models 1 and 2 of Table D2. The size of the coefficients decreases strongly in both cases, and support for hypothesis 1 is found in the case of the *65*+ *dependency ratio of the importer*. A PPML model with fixed effects was also estimated, however, many of the variables are subsumed in the fixed effects, meaning that the true effect of ageing cannot be interpreted. These results are thus not shown in this thesis.

4.1.2. Consumption ratios and trade

The next set of models to evaluate, concerns the incremental estimations of equation (2), to see whether support for hypothesis 2 can be found. With these models, I determine the effect of population ageing and changing consumption expenditures, measured with consumption ratios, on trade, based on the NTA gravity dataset. The models are set up in the same incremental steps as previously, in Tables 5 and 6.

The results of the estimations with the 65+ consumption ratio of the importer estimations are depicted in Table 7. The significance of all seven models is again of the highest level, and the adjusted R-squared is very similar to the estimations with the dependency ratios, too. The signs, sizes, and significance levels of the variables are nearly the same as with the 65+ dependency ratio of the importer analyses in Table 5.

Again, only in Model 2 is support for hypothesis 2 found. Namely, in Model 2, the 65+ *consumption ratio of the importer* takes a value of -0.1101 at the 5%-significance level. Therefore, as the consumption ratio of the importer increases by 1%, bilateral trade decreases by 0.11%, ceteris paribus. From this model, we can thus conclude that as populations age, and as their consumption patterns thus change, bilateral trade will change.

The results of the consumption ratio are again very variable. Therefore, to draw even more information from the data, the 65+ consumption ratio of the importer is split up. The results of

VADIABLES	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4	Model 5	Model 6	Model 7
VARIABLES	Wodel 1	Niodel 2	Model 5	Wodel 4	Model 5	Model 0	Wodel /
Log of 65+ Dependency Ratio Importer		-0.1491**	0.0241	0.0659	0.0183	0.0228	1.4610***
Log of GDP Exporter	1.2653***	1.2644***	1.2799***	1.2827***	1.2551***	1.2668***	0.4815***
Log of GDP Importer	1.1590***	1.1783***	1.1459***	1.1150***	1.1192***	1.0712***	0.9382***
Log of Distance	-1.1927***	-1.2058***	-1.0982***	-1.0850***	-0.9734***	-0.9351***	-1.0809***
Constant	(0.0423) -18.5970***	(0.0434) -19.0457***	(0.0492) -19.5236***	(0.0483) -19.1948***	(0.0565) -20.1766***	(0.0560) -19.3259***	(0.0554) -5.5362***
	(0.4623)	(0.4919)	(0.4979)	(0.4963)	(0.5375)	(0.5615)	(1.9687)
Observations	22,865	22,865	22,753	22,742	22,742	22,742	22,742
Adjusted R-squared	0.6959	0.6960	0.7039	0.7054	0.7084	0.7214	0.7860
Model Significance	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000
Control for Contiguity	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Control for Common Language	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Control for Colonial or Dependency Relationship	No	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Control for Sibling Relationship	No	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Control for Both GATT/WTO Member	No	No	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes
Control for Both EU Member	No	No	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes
Control for RTA	No	No	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes
Time FE	No	No	No	No	No	Yes	Yes
Importer and Exporter FE	No	No	No	No	No	No	Yes

Table 5. NTA gravity dataset analyses with 65+ demographic dependency ratio

Notes: *** p < 0.01, ** p < 0.05, * p < 0.1. Robust clustered standard errors in parentheses. Model (1) shows the most reduced version of the gravity model. Model (2) adds the 65+ dependency ratio of the importer. Model (3) adds the country-characteristics variables concerning common borders and common language. Model (4) adds colonial country-characteristics variables concerning dependency or sibling relationships. Model (5) adds trade agreement variables. Model (6) adds time fixed effects, and Model (7) has both time and importer and exporter fixed effects.

VARIABLES	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4	Model 5	Model 6	Model 7
Log of 65-69 Dependency Ratio Importer		0.8646***	1.1445***	1.3532***	1.3811***	0.6781***	-0.0747
		(0.2130)	(0.2130)	(0.2089)	(0.2106)	(0.2337)	(0.3017)
Log of 70+ Dependency Ratio Importer		-0.6870***	-0.7126***	-0.8081***	-0.8698***	-0.4155***	1.2521***
		(0.1422)	(0.1416)	(0.1401)	(0.1423)	(0.1605)	(0.2732)
Log of GDP Exporter	1.2653***	1.2653***	1.2816***	1.2848***	1.2563***	1.2678***	0.4815***
	(0.0143)	(0.0143)	(0.0138)	(0.0137)	(0.0147)	(0.0150)	(0.1119)
Log of GDP Importer	1.1590***	1.1751***	1.1413***	1.1080***	1.1125***	1.0709***	0.9013***
	(0.0157)	(0.0192)	(0.0192)	(0.0180)	(0.0176)	(0.0168)	(0.0933)
Log of Distance	-1.1927***	-1.2057***	-1.0991***	-1.0856***	-0.9748***	-0.9348***	-1.0808***
-	(0.0423)	(0.0433)	(0.0492)	(0.0482)	(0.0564)	(0.0560)	(0.0554)
Constant	-18.5970***	-17.7361***	-17.7484***	-17.0723***	-18.0272***	-18.4060***	-5.0122**
	(0.4623)	(0.6021)	(0.6013)	(0.5943)	(0.6326)	(0.6465)	(2.0296)
Observations	22,865	22,865	22,753	22,742	22,742	22,742	22.742
Adjusted R-squared	0.6959	0.6964	0 7045	0 7062	0 7092	0 7216	0 7860
Model Significance	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000
Control for Contiguity	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Control for Common Language	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Control for Colonial or Dependency Relationship	No	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Control for Sibling Relationship	No	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Control for Both GATT/WTO Member	No	No	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes
Control for Both EU Member	No	No	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes
Control for RTA	No	No	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes
Time FE	No	No	No	No	No	Yes	Yes
Importer and Exporter FE	No	No	No	No	No	No	Yes

Table 6. NTA gravity dataset analyses with 65-69 and 70+ demographic dependency ratio

Notes: *** p < 0.01, ** p < 0.05, * p < 0.1. Robust clustered standard errors in parentheses. Model (1) shows the most reduced version of the gravity model. Model (2) adds the 65-69 and 70+ dependency ratios of the importer. Model (3) adds the country-characteristics variables concerning common borders and common language. Model (4) adds colonial country-characteristics variables concerning dependency or sibling relationships. Model (5) adds trade agreement variables. Model (6) adds time fixed effects, and Model (7) has both time and importer and exporter fixed effects.

VARIABLES	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4	Model 5	Model 6	Model 7
Log of 65+ Consumption Ratio Importer		-0.1101**	0.0096	0.0196	-0.0014	-0.0597	0.2457
Log of GDP Exporter	1.2653***	(0.0553) 1.2645***	(0.0560) 1.2798***	(0.0559) 1.2822***	(0.0564) 1.2547***	(0.0581) 1.2658***	(0.2532) 0.4808***
Log of GDP Importer	(0.0143) 1.1590***	(0.0143) 1.1784***	(0.0138) 1.1473***	(0.0137) 1.1204***	(0.0148) 1.1219***	(0.0150) 1.0844***	(0.1115) 0.9387***
Log of Distance	(0.0157) -1.1927***	(0.0189) -1.2039***	(0.0189) -1.0996***	(0.0178) -1.0898***	(0.0176) -0.9747***	(0.0171) -0.9415***	(0.0931) -1.0804***
Constant	(0.0423)	(0.0433)	(0.0489)	(0.0481)	(0.0565)	(0.0560)	(0.0555)
Constant	(0.4623)	(0.4917)	(0.4990)	(0.4974)	(0.5384)	(0.5705)	(1.9208)
Observations	22,865	22,865	22,753	22,742	22,742	22,742	22,742
Adjusted R-squared Model Significance	0.6959 0.0000	0.6960 0.0000	0.7039 0.0000	0.7054 0.0000	0.7084 0.0000	0.7214 0.0000	0.7858 0.0000
Control for Contiguity	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Control for Colonial or Dependency Relationship	No	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Control for Sibling Relationship Control for Both GATT/WTO Member	No No	No No	No No	Yes No	Yes Yes	Yes Yes	Yes Yes
Control for Both EU Member	No	No	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes
Time FE	No	No	No	No	No	Yes	Yes
Importer and Exporter FE	No	No	No	No	No	No	Yes

Table 7. NTA gravity dataset analyses with 65+ consumption ratio

Notes: *** p < 0.01, ** p < 0.05, * p < 0.1. Robust clustered standard errors in parentheses. Model (1) shows the most reduced version of the gravity model. Model (2) adds the 65+ consumption ratio of the importer. Model (3) adds the country-characteristics variables concerning common borders and common language. Model (4) adds colonial country-characteristics variables concerning dependency or sibling relationships. Model (5) adds trade agreement variables. Model (6) adds time fixed effects, and Model (7) has both time and importer and exporter fixed effects.

VARIABLES	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4	Model 5	Model 6	Model 7
Log of 65-69 Consumption Ratio Importer		0.5928***	0.7743***	0.8469***	0.8353***	0.7208***	-1.4540***
		(0.1698)	(0.1694)	(0.1678)	(0.1675)	(0.1849)	(0.2608)
Log of 70+ Consumption Ratio Importer		-0.4522***	-0.4577***	-0.4932***	-0.5056***	-0.4872***	0.8718***
		(0.1164)	(0.1158)	(0.1150)	(0.1154)	(0.1272)	(0.2011)
Log of GDP Exporter	1.2653***	1.2647***	1.2805***	1.2830***	1.2552***	1.2671***	0.4809***
	(0.0143)	(0.0143)	(0.0138)	(0.0137)	(0.0147)	(0.0150)	(0.1116)
Log of GDP Importer	1.1590***	1.1651***	1.1309***	1.1020***	1.1039***	1.0700***	0.7839***
2 .	(0.0157)	(0.0191)	(0.0192)	(0.0180)	(0.0177)	(0.0174)	(0.0970)
Log of Distance	-1.1927***	-1.2037***	-1.1007***	-1.0909***	-0.9770***	-0.9407***	-1.0806***
c .	(0.0423)	(0.0433)	(0.0489)	(0.0481)	(0.0564)	(0.0561)	(0.0555)
Constant	-18.5970***	-17.7924***	-17.9296***	-17.5262***	-18.4845***	-18.2981***	-8.2848***
	(0.4623)	(0.5834)	(0.5880)	(0.5835)	(0.6209)	(0.6463)	(1.9399)
Observations	22.865	22.865	22 752	22 742	22 742	22 742	22 742
Observations	22,805	22,805	22,733	22,742	22,742	22,742	22,742
Adjusted R-squared	0.6959	0.6963	0.7043	0.7059	0.7089	0.7218	0.7860
Model Significance	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000
Control for Contiguity	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Control for Common Language	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Control for Colonial or Dependency Relationship	No	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Control for Sibling Relationship	No	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Control for Both GATT/WTO Member	No	No	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes
Control for Both EU Member	No	No	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes
Control for RTA	No	No	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes
Time FE	No	No	No	No	No	Yes	Yes
Importer and Exporter FE	No	No	No	No	No	No	Yes

Table 8. NTA gravity dataset analyses with 65-69 and 70+ consumption ratio

Notes: *** p < 0.01, ** p < 0.05, * p < 0.1. Robust clustered standard errors in parentheses. Model (1) shows the most reduced version of the gravity model. Model (2) adds the 65-69 and 70+ dependency ratios of the importer. Model (3) adds the country-characteristics variables concerning common borders and common language. Model (4) adds colonial country-characteristics variables concerning dependency or sibling relationships. Model (5) adds trade agreement variables. Model (6) adds time fixed effects, and Model (7) has both time and importer and exporter fixed effects.

these analyses can be found in Table 8. The model significance does not change between Tables 7 and 8, and the adjusted R-squared is also nearly constant. Again, compared to the analyses with the 65+ consumption ratio of the importer, the signs, sizes, and significance levels of most variables are constant. There are changes in the effects found for the consumption ratios, though. Namely, again in all models but Model 7, I find support for hypothesis 2. Ageing, as well as a change in consumption, is captured to a larger extent in the 70+ consumption ratio of the importer. This makes sense, as private consumption starts to decrease more heavily for most countries between ages 70 and 80. All coefficients of that variable, apart from those in Model 7, are negative and significant at the 1% level. Therefore, as posited in hypothesis 2, as the importer population ages, and thus changes its consumption patterns, bilateral trade decreases.

Equation (2) was also estimated using the PPML estimator, of which the results can also be found in Appendix D, in Models 3 and 4 of Table D2. The size of the coefficients is again lower than what was depicted in Tables 7 and 8, and no support is found for hypothesis 2, as all consumption ratios are insignificant.

Several additional analyses have been done with the NTA gravity dataset, by way of early sensitivity checks. The results of these analyses can be found in Appendix D, Table D3. Support for hypotheses 1 and 2 is found in all four models. Care should be taken in interpreting Models 1 and 3, however, as the independent variables exhibit high multicollinearity, following the explanation given in Section 3.2.

4.2. Sensitivity Analyses

4.2.1. Old-age demographic dependency ratios and trade

Further sensitivity analyses are done with the AGENTA gravity dataset. Namely, the previous results for the dependency and consumption ratios were somewhat variable between the different models. However, this variance could also be the consequence of a highly diverse importer country sample. As explained in Section 3.2, however, the AGENTA database considers only European countries, and thus considers countries that are much more similar in levels of ageing and development. Again, the first set of models concerns incremental estimations of equation (1), and I attempt to find support for hypothesis 1. The results are presented in Table 9, and the full results including coefficients and their significance levels for the controls are depicted in Table D4 of Appendix D.

Model 1 depicts the most basic version of the gravity model, without any fixed effects. The variables are all significant at the 1%-level, as is the model, and the model has an adjusted R-squared of 0.706. Therefore, 70% of the variation in *bilateral trade* is explained by the model.

Model 2 again adds the variable for the 65+ dependency ratio of the importer. The coefficients and significance levels of the other variables do not change much, and neither do the adjusted R-squared or the model significance level. The old-age demographic dependency ratio is significant, however, it is positive, contrary to what was hypothesised.

Model 3 adds variables for contiguity and sharing a common (official) language. Both these variables are positive and significant, as hypothesised. The other coefficients hardly change. The adjusted R-squared slightly increases as a result, the model still being highly significant.

Model 4 adds variables for colonial relationships. As expected, both are positive and significant. The other variables change only slightly in size, though their sign and significance remain the same. The adjusted R-squared and the model significance are constant.

Model 5 adds the variables for trade-facilitating agreements. All three variables are positive, as hypothesised, and significant. The adjusted R-squared increases and the model significance is still stable.

Model 6 is the complete model but adds importer- and exporter-fixed effects. Timefixed effects cannot be added in this case, as the observations are all from the same year. The adjusted R-squared increases greatly, though many coefficients now display a different size, but also different signs and significance levels. The same holds for the dependency ratio variable. Still, the model is significant at the 1% level.

Thus, many coefficients line up with the expectations, however, not the main independent variable, the 65+ *dependency ratio of the importer*. I do not find support for hypothesis 1, as all coefficients are positive. This means that, for example, according to Model 2, as the 65+ dependency ratio of the importer increases by 1%, bilateral trade will increase by 0.51%, ceteris paribus. This is not what was hypothesised.

Therefore, I again attempt to draw more information from the dependency ratios by splitting them up, and estimating the model again with the 65-69 dependency ratio of the importer and the 70+ dependency ratio of the importer. These results are depicted in Table 10. Relative to Table 9, the model significance and the adjusted R-squared hardly change for any of the models. The same goes for the sign, sizes, and significance levels for many coefficients, except

for those in Model 6, which introduces the fixed effects. The dependency ratios, however, become mostly insignificant. The only significance that is found for the old-age demographic dependency ratios is in Model 2, where the *65-69 dependency ratio of the importer* displays a negative effect, supporting hypothesis 1. This is counterintuitive, as one would expect it to be positive for this age category, and then negative in the 70+ category, like in Table 6.

Again, some estimations using the PPML estimator have also been done, of which the results are found in Appendix D, in Models 1 and 2 of Table D5. The size of the coefficients is lower compared to Tables 9 and 10, and again, no support is found for hypothesis 1.

4.2.2. Consumption ratios and trade

The next set of models estimates equation (2) incrementally, but now with data from the AGENTA gravity dataset, to determine whether there is support for hypothesis 2. The effect of both population ageing and changing consumption expenditures on trade is estimated, through the utilisation of consumption ratios. The results are depicted in Table 11.

As before, the models are estimated in the same incremental steps. All eight models display a high level of significance, as well as a similar adjusted R-squared as in Table 9. Of all variables, the signs, sizes, and significance levels are very similar to those depicted in Table 9. However, the coefficients for the *65+ consumption ratio of the importer* are now much more significant and negative, except for Model 6, which introduces the importer and exporter fixed effects. This means that in Models 2-5, support for hypothesis 2 is found, and that as the consumption ratio of the importer increases, bilateral trade decreases; ageing populations and their ageing consumption patterns will influence trade. For example, according to Model 5, as the 65+ consumption ratio of the importer increases by 1%, bilateral trade decreases by 0.96%, ceteris paribus.

Perhaps additional information can be drawn from the variables again by splitting up the 65+ *consumption ratio of the importer*, as was done for the baseline analyses. The results of these estimations are depicted in Table 12. Between Tables 11 and 12, the model significance and adjusted R-squared are nearly constant. The signs, sizes, and significance levels of most variables do not change, either. In these analyses, too, support is found for hypothesis 2, as the 70+ *consumption ratio of the importer* is negative and significant at the 1%-level in Models 2-5 again, like in Table 11, albeit at slightly lower values. For example, following Model 5, as the 70+ consumption ratio of the importer increases by 1%, bilateral trade decreases by 0.70%,

VARIABLES	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4	Model 5	Model 6
Log of 65+ Dependency Ratio Importer		0.5106**	0.6877***	0.7605***	0.7968***	-1.7501
		(0.2363)	(0.2399)	(0.2404)	(0.2350)	(2.6677)
Log of GDP Exporter	1.3198***	1.3187***	1.3197***	1.3246***	1.2669***	-1.0864
	(0.0164)	(0.0165)	(0.0166)	(0.0166)	(0.0173)	(0.8949)
Log of GDP Importer	1.2596***	1.2365***	1.2095***	1.2019***	1.2085***	0.9515***
· ·	(0.0245)	(0.0274)	(0.0280)	(0.0280)	(0.0276)	(0.2259)
Log of Distance	-1.2566***	-1.2560***	-1.2125***	-1.1931***	-0.9281***	-1.6041***
	(0.0381)	(0.0379)	(0.0400)	(0.0392)	(0.0583)	(0.1129)
Constant	-20.8656***	-19.8381***	-19.6442***	-19.7016***	-22.1867***	2.5926
	(0.5835)	(0.7752)	(0.7765)	(0.7658)	(0.8308)	(11.3122)
Observations	4,127	4,127	4,079	4,079	4,079	4,079
Adjusted R-squared	0.7059	0.7062	0.7100	0.7121	0.7234	0.8147
Model Significance	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000
Control for Contiguity	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Control for Common Language	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Control for Colonial or Dependency Relationship	No	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes
Control for Sibling Relationship	No	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes
Control for Both WTO Member	No	No	No	No	Yes	Yes
Control for Both EU Member	No	No	No	No	Yes	Yes
Control for RTA	No	No	No	No	Yes	Yes
Importer and Exporter FE	No	No	No	No	No	Yes

Table 9. AGENTA gravity dataset analyses with 65+ demographic dependency ratio

Notes: *** p < 0.01, ** p < 0.05, * p < 0.1. Robust clustered standard errors in parentheses. Model (1) shows the most reduced version of the gravity model. Model (2) adds the 65+ dependency ratio of the importer. Model (3) adds the country-characteristics variables concerning common borders and common language. Model (4) adds colonial country-characteristics variables concerning dependency or sibling relationships. Model (5) adds trade agreement variables. Model (6) adds importer and exporter fixed effects.

VARIABLES	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4	Model 5	Model 6
The blue	iniouer i	model 2	moderb	model 4	moder 5	modero
Log of 65-69 Dependency Ratio Importer		-0.4337*	-0.2271	-0.1884	-0.1488	-2.3889
		(0.2505)	(0.2560)	(0.2563)	(0.2503)	(2.6394)
Log of 70+ Dependency Ratio Importer		0.1094	0.0958	0.0904	0.0783	-4.0960
		(0.0669)	(0.0674)	(0.0673)	(0.0665)	(2.6990)
Log of GDP Exporter	1.3198***	1.3202***	1.3203***	1.3246***	1.2672***	-1.0864
	(0.0164)	(0.0164)	(0.0166)	(0.0166)	(0.0173)	(0.8949)
Log of GDP Importer	1.2596***	1.2837***	1.2606***	1.2516***	1.2573***	2.8915**
	(0.0245)	(0.0282)	(0.0288)	(0.0292)	(0.0287)	(1.4626)
Log of Distance	-1.2566***	-1.2596***	-1.2129***	-1.1966***	-0.9357***	-1.6041***
c .	(0.0381)	(0.0382)	(0.0404)	(0.0395)	(0.0587)	(0.1129)
Constant	-20.8656***	-22.1050***	-21.7080***	-21.7146***	-24.1262***	-37.2666
	(0.5835)	(0.9502)	(0.9610)	(0.9527)	(0.9994)	(34.1575)
Observations	4,127	4,127	4,079	4,079	4,079	4,079
Adjusted R-squared	0.7059	0.7061	0.7094	0.7115	0.7226	0.8147
Model Significance	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000
Control for Contiguity	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Control for Common Language	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Control for Colonial or Dependency Relationship	No	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes
Control for Sibling Relationship	No	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes
Control for Both WTO Member	No	No	No	No	Yes	Yes
Control for Both EU Member	No	No	No	No	Yes	Yes
Control for RTA	No	No	No	No	Yes	Yes
Importer and Exporter FE	No	No	No	No	No	Yes

Table 10. AGENTA gravity dataset analyses with 65-69 and 70+ demographic dependency ratio

Notes: *** p < 0.01, ** p < 0.05, * p < 0.1. Robust clustered standard errors in parentheses. Model (1) shows the most reduced version of the gravity model. Model (2) adds the 65-69 and 70+ dependency ratios of the importer. Model (3) adds the country-characteristics variables concerning common borders and common language. Model (4) adds colonial country-characteristics variables concerning dependency or sibling relationships. Model (5) adds trade agreement variables. Model (6) adds importer and exporter fixed effects.

VARIABLES	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4	Model 5	Model 6
Log of 65+ Consumption Ratio Importer		-0.9791***	-1.0913***	-0.9884***	-0.9565***	-0.1989
		(0.1921)	(0.1939)	(0.1937)	(0.1900)	(0.3032)
Log of GDP Exporter	1.3198***	1.3191***	1.3205***	1.3244***	1.2672***	-1.0864
с .	(0.0164)	(0.0165)	(0.0166)	(0.0166)	(0.0173)	(0.8949)
Log of GDP Importer	1.2596***	1.2948***	1.2795***	1.2697***	1.2767***	0.8117***
	(0.0245)	(0.0254)	(0.0256)	(0.0261)	(0.0257)	(0.0798)
Log of Distance	-1.2566***	-1.2568***	-1.2123***	-1.1972***	-0.9354***	-1.6041***
	(0.0381)	(0.0381)	(0.0403)	(0.0396)	(0.0584)	(0.1129)
Constant	-20.8656***	-24.6231***	-25.2236***	-24.9482***	-27.3538***	6.1818
	(0.5835)	(0.9292)	(0.9375)	(0.9419)	(0.9966)	(9.3124)
	((
Observations	4.127	4.127	4.079	4.079	4.079	4.079
Adjusted R-squared	0.7059	0.7076	0.7115	0.7132	0.7243	0.8147
Model Significance	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000
Control for Contiguity	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Control for Common Language	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Control for Colonial or Dependency Relationship	No	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes
Control for Sibling Relationship	No	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes
Control for Both WTO Member	No	No	No	No	Yes	Yes
Control for Both EU Member	No	No	No	No	Yes	Yes
Control for RTA	No	No	No	No	Yes	Yes
Importer and Exporter FE	No	No	No	No	No	Yes

Table 11. AGENTA gravity dataset analyses with 65+ consumption ratio

Notes: *** p < 0.01, ** p < 0.05, * p < 0.1. Robust clustered standard errors in parentheses. Model (1) shows the most reduced version of the gravity model. Model (2) adds the 65+ consumption ratio of the importer. Model (3) adds the country-characteristics variables concerning common borders and common language. Model (4) adds colonial country-characteristics variables concerning dependency or sibling relationships. Model (5) adds trade agreement variables. Model (6) adds importer and exporter fixed effects.

VARIABLES	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4	Model 5	Model 6
Las a f. (f. (f) Communities Davis Lassadas		0.2117	0.2527	0.2226	0.22(2	1.0041**
Log of 65-69 Consumption Ratio Importer		-0.3117	-0.2537	-0.2236	-0.2363	-1.9241**
Log of 70+ Consumption Patio Importer		(0.3709)	0.3730)	(0.3/44)	(0.3082)	0.6700
Log of 70+ Consumption Ratio Importer		(0.2604)	(0.2639)	(0.2631)	(0.2580)	(0.4848)
Log of GDP Exporter	1.3198***	1.3191***	1.3205***	1.3244***	1.2672***	-1.0864
	(0.0164)	(0.0165)	(0.0166)	(0.0166)	(0.0173)	(0.8949)
Log of GDP Importer	1.2596***	1.2951***	1.2800***	1.2701***	1.2771***	0.9340***
	(0.0245)	(0.0254)	(0.0256)	(0.0261)	(0.0257)	(0.0784)
Log of Distance	-1.2566***	-1.2569***	-1.2122***	-1.1972***	-0.9353***	-1.6041***
	(0.0381)	(0.0381)	(0.0403)	(0.0396)	(0.0584)	(0.1129)
Constant	-20.8656***	-25.8800***	-26.3161***	-25.9121***	-28.3549***	-3.3017
	(0.5835)	(1.6389)	(1.6508)	(1.6734)	(1.6936)	(9.9423)
Observations	4,127	4,127	4,079	4,079	4,079	4,079
Adjusted R-squared	0.7059	0.7075	0.7115	0.7131	0.7242	0.8147
Model Significance	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000
Control for Contiguity	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Control for Common Language	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Control for Colonial or Dependency Relationship	No	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes
Control for Sibling Relationship	No	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes
Control for Both WTO Member	No	No	No	No	Yes	Yes
Control for Both EU Member	No	No	No	No	Yes	Yes
Control for RTA	No	No	No	No	Yes	Yes
Importer and Exporter FE	No	No	No	No	No	Yes

Table 12. AGENTA gravity dataset analyses with 65-69 and 70+ consumption ratio

Notes: *** p < 0.01, ** p < 0.05, * p < 0.1. Robust clustered standard errors in parentheses. Model (1) shows the most reduced version of the gravity model. Model (2) adds the 65-69 and 70+ dependency ratios of the importer. Model (3) adds the country-characteristics variables concerning common borders and common language. Model (4) adds colonial country-characteristics variables concerning dependency or sibling relationships. Model (5) adds trade agreement variables. Model (6) adds importer and exporter fixed effects.

ceteris paribus. The variable is insignificant in Model 6, as is the 65-69 consumption ratio of *the importer* in all models but Model 6, where it displays a very strong negative value. However, there is still support for hypothesis 2, and thus as the importer population ages, and as its consumption patterns change as a result, bilateral trade decreases.

Like with the baseline analyses, some estimations using the PPML estimator have also been done, of which the results are found in Appendix D, in Models 3 and 4 of Table D5. The size of the coefficients is lower compared to Tables 11 and 12, and again, no support is found for hypothesis 1.

Similar to the NTA gravity dataset, several additional analyses have been done with the AGENTA gravity dataset, to provide some further final sensitivity checks on these estimations. The results of these estimations are depicted in Appendix D, Table D6. Support for hypothesis 2 is found with the consumption ratios, and only partially found with the dependency ratios. Nevertheless, again, care should be taken in interpreting Models 1 and 3, however, as the independent variables exhibit slight multicollinearity, following the explanation given in Section 3.2.

4.3. Consumption Ratios and Disaggregated Trade

The final estimations of this thesis go even deeper into how population ageing influences trade, as the goal now is to determine *how* trade changes. In this sub-section, I attempt to discover whether, as a result of population ageing and changing consumption behaviour, trade decreases in goods of which the elderly are expected to consume relatively little, and trade increases in goods of which the elderly are expected to consume relatively much. If that is the case, then I find support for hypothesis 3.

For these estimations, I use the disaggregated AGENTA gravity dataset. The bestpractice model from the previous estimations shall be used for these estimations. This model is Model 5 from Tables 11 and 12, i.e., the model that includes all relevant control variables, but that does not control for the exporter and importer fixed effects. This model gave the most reliable and constant results and is therefore estimated twenty-six times. The first thirteen instances use the 65+ consumption ratio of the importer as the independent variable, where the dependent variable is a different SITC industry every time, and the last thirteen instances use the 65-69 consumption ratio of the importer and the 70+ consumption ratio of the importer as independent variables, and here, too, every model has a different SITC industry as its dependent variable. The results of these estimations can be found in Tables 13 and 14, respectively.

The first thing to note when looking at Table 13 is that the adjusted R-squared has very high variability in these models and that the model significance is very high for all of them. The gravity variables take on the correct signs when they are significant, though their sizes differ greatly. When considering the 65+ consumption ratio of the importer, the coefficient is significant in Models 4, 7, 9, 11, and 13, and all are positive, though with different sizes. Therefore, as populations age, their trade in tobacco, appliances, medicine, vehicles, and telecommunications equipment increases.

When comparing these results to findings from Stöver (2012), they are unexpected. Namely, following her results in changing consumption patterns, it was to be expected that trade in tobacco and vehicles decrease. These are things which people in older age groups generally consume less, and thus one could expect that to affect import demand. This is not the case, however. The only industry category that does line up with expectations is trade in medicine. Very little support for hypothesis 3 is thus found.

As these results are not lining up with the expectations, it may prove insightful to again split up the consumption ratio. Therefore, in the next set of analyses, of which the results are displayed in Table 14, the 65-69 consumption ratio of the importer and the 70+ consumption ratio of the importer are the independent variables. For Table 14, too, the adjusted R-squared exhibits a very high variability, but the model is very significant. Significant coefficients for the consumption ratio variables are found in Models 2, 4, 7, 8, 11, and 13.

Following the expectations of Stöver (2012), I again find support for hypothesis 3 in Model 2, for trade in non-alcoholic beverages. Namely, the 70+ consumption ratio of the *importer* is very negative and significant at the 5% level. As populations age, they trade less in non-alcoholic beverages. I also find partial support in Model 4, Model 8, and Model 11, for trade in tobacco, furniture, and vehicles respectively, as the 65-69 consumption ratio of the *importer* is strongly negative in those instances, however, the 70+ consumption ratio of the *importer* then turns positive. No support is found in Models 7 and 13, as following Stöver, trade in appliances and telecommunications equipment is expected to decrease as populations age, since the elderly are expected to consume less of these products.

Some alternative estimations were done with the disaggregated AGENTA gravity datasets, of which the results are depicted in Appendix D, in Tables D7 and D8. The results in Table D7

should be interpreted with caution, as these data present some multicollinearity. In both tables, the adjusted R-squared values fluctuate quite a bit, as was the case in Tables 13 and 14, but the models all present high significance levels. Here, too, the gravity variables mostly line up with the hypothesised effects. In these models, further support for hypothesis 3 is found, but again not for all SITC industry categories.

	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4	Model 5	Model 6	Model 7	Model 8	Model 9	Model 10	Model 11	Model 12	Model 13
		Non-Alc.	Alc.									Other Trans.	Telecomm.
VARIABLES	Food	Beverages	Beverages	Tobacco	Apparel	Footwear	Appliances	Furniture	Medicine	Fuels	Vehicles	Equip.	Equip.
Log of 65+ Consumption Ratio Importer	0.0939	-1.0830	0.1335	1.5546*	-0.2058	0.0353	0.9416***	0.6371	0.8729**	-0.7912	1.4456***	0.0990	3.0575***
	(0.2691)	(0.6727)	(0.4531)	(0.8541)	(0.3001)	(0.4761)	(0.2917)	(0.5241)	(0.4417)	(0.6428)	(0.4478)	(0.6098)	(0.4189)
Log of GDP Exporter	0.8773***	0.4561***	0.6377***	0.6463***	1.0290***	0.8531***	0.9460***	1.0348***	0.8197***	0.8427***	1.0049***	1.0518***	0.8662***
	(0.0405)	(0.0686)	(0.0576)	(0.1124)	(0.0437)	(0.0625)	(0.0401)	(0.0563)	(0.0538)	(0.0786)	(0.0470)	(0.0704)	(0.0493)
Log of GDP Importer	1.0438***	0.9264***	1.3368***	0.6641***	1.2149***	1.3759***	1.0214***	0.8183***	1.2283***	0.9952***	1.2234***	1.3171***	0.8161***
	(0.0421)	(0.0790)	(0.0576)	(0.1135)	(0.0442)	(0.0614)	(0.0458)	(0.0591)	(0.0553)	(0.0772)	(0.0471)	(0.0751)	(0.0509)
Log of Distance	-0.9218***	-1.0232***	-0.2003	-0.5985**	-1.3106***	-1.5853***	-1.4543***	-1.6221***	-0.8132***	-2.0075***	-1.7356***	-1.3144***	-1.4570***
	(0.1381)	(0.2021)	(0.1957)	(0.2908)	(0.1675)	(0.1937)	(0.1425)	(0.1845)	(0.1762)	(0.2473)	(0.1779)	(0.2452)	(0.1802)
Constant	-9.1756***	-9.0430**	-18.1438***	-1.1848	-13.6783***	-12.4176***	-3.3792**	-3.4762	-10.1489***	-5.3368	-3.7005	-16.3876***	7.1534***
	(1.8602)	(3.5076)	(2.6559)	(3.6871)	(1.6471)	(2.5262)	(1.7169)	(2.6862)	(2.4546)	(3.3317)	(2.4053)	(2.9297)	(2.2340)
Observations	596	464	540	388	593	558	596	585	575	529	591	505	595
Adjusted R-squared	0.7287	0.4153	0.5566	0.2087	0.7239	0.6084	0.7455	0.5951	0.5466	0.4854	0.7055	0.5456	0.5979
Model Significance	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000
Control for Contiguity	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Control for Common Language	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Control for Colonial or Dependency Relationship	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Control for Sibling Relationship	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Control for Both WTO Member	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Control for Both EU Member	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Control for RTA	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes

Table 13. Disaggregated AGENTA gravity dataset analyses with 65+ consumption ratio

Notes: *** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1. Robust clustered standard errors in parentheses. The estimation in this table is the most complete specification, with the 65+ consumption ratio of the importer. It is a regression model without fixed effects. Model (1) estimates the model for the *Food and live animals* industry. Model (2) estimates the model for the *Non-alcoholic beverages* industry. Model (3) estimates the model for the *Alcoholic beverages* industry. Model (4) estimates the model for the *Tobacco and tobacco manufactures* industry. Model (5) estimates the model for the *Articles of apparel; clothing accessories* industry. Model (6) estimates the model for the *Footwear* industry. Model (7) estimates the model for the *Electrical machinery, apparatus and appliances, and electrical parts thereof* industry. Model (8) estimates the model for the *Furniture and parts thereof* industry. Model (9) estimates the model for the *Medicinal and pharmaceutical products* industry. Model (10) estimates the model for the *Road vehicles* industry. Model (12) estimates the model for the *Other transport equipment* industry. Model (13) estimates the model for the *Telecommunications and sound-recording apparatus and equipment* industry.

	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4	Model 5	Model 6	Model 7	Model 8	Model 9	Model 10	Model 11	Model 12	Model 13
		Non-Alc.	Alc.									Other Trans.	Telecomm.
VARIABLES	Food	Beverages	Beverages	Tobacco	Apparel	Footwear	Appliances	Furniture	Medicine	Fuels	Vehicles	Equip.	Equip.
Log of 65-69 Consumption Ratio Importer	-0.3161	2.0513**	-0.7366	-6.5247***	0.4907	-0.9842	1.4866***	-1.1318*	-0.2660	0.4054	-1.1732*	-0.7319	3.1907***
	(0.5471)	(1.0199)	(0.8207)	(1.4123)	(0.6384)	(0.8083)	(0.5103)	(0.6677)	(0.8391)	(1.1435)	(0.6761)	(0.9972)	(0.8112)
Log of 70+ Consumption Ratio Importer	0.2719	-2.1793**	0.5670	5.4174***	-0.4731	0.6141	-0.0422	1.2122**	0.9261	-0.9175	1.9534***	0.5346	0.8248
	(0.3736)	(0.8558)	(0.6016)	(1.0709)	(0.4392)	(0.5901)	(0.3750)	(0.5821)	(0.6167)	(0.8035)	(0.5135)	(0.7442)	(0.5349)
Log of GDP Exporter	0.8775***	0.4561***	0.6374***	0.6785***	1.0290***	0.8526***	0.9457***	1.0356***	0.8196***	0.8430***	1.0048***	1.0532***	0.8644***
	(0.0406)	(0.0680)	(0.0575)	(0.1086)	(0.0438)	(0.0624)	(0.0399)	(0.0562)	(0.0538)	(0.0786)	(0.0471)	(0.0701)	(0.0487)
Log of GDP Importer	1.0426***	0.9352***	1.3328***	0.6378***	1.2171***	1.3721***	1.0244***	0.8157***	1.2259***	0.9959***	1.2179***	1.3152***	0.8201***
	(0.0425)	(0.0772)	(0.0579)	(0.1093)	(0.0439)	(0.0616)	(0.0453)	(0.0599)	(0.0558)	(0.0773)	(0.0473)	(0.0752)	(0.0504)
Log of Distance	-0.9179***	-1.0343***	-0.1944	-0.5644**	-1.3165***	-1.5774***	-1.4664***	-1.6128***	-0.8082***	-2.0088***	-1.7196***	-1.3116***	-1.4777***
	(0.1369)	(0.2053)	(0.1949)	(0.2755)	(0.1676)	(0.1943)	(0.1434)	(0.1821)	(0.1745)	(0.2479)	(0.1745)	(0.2445)	(0.1807)
Constant	-10.2212***	-2.4987	-20.5072***	-22.3984***	-12.0736***	-15.7003***	1.9064	-7.2455**	-10.8379***	-4.0880	-7.3928**	-18.7772***	18.7642***
	(2.5368)	(4.8011)	(3.9912)	(6.2726)	(2.7624)	(4.1021)	(2.3579)	(3.6355)	(3.6916)	(5.4083)	(3.5357)	(4.6599)	(3.6735)
Observations	596	464	540	388	593	558	596	585	575	529	591	505	595
Adjusted R-squared	0.7284	0.4206	0.5565	0.2585	0.7238	0.6086	0.7473	0.5965	0.5462	0.4847	0.7077	0.5452	0.6045
Model Significance	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000
Control for Contiguity	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Control for Common Language	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Control for Colonial or Dependency Relationship	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Control for Sibling Relationship	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Control for Both WTO Member	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Control for Both EU Member	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Control for RTA	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes

Table 14. Disaggregated AGENTA gravity dataset analyses with 65-69 and 70+ consumption ratio

Notes: *** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1. Robust clustered standard errors in parentheses. The estimation in this table is the most complete specification, with the 65-69 and 70+ consumption ratio of the importer. It is a regression model without fixed effects. Model (1) estimates the model for the *Food and live animals* industry. Model (2) estimates the model for the *Non-alcoholic beverages* industry. Model (3) estimates the model for the *Alcoholic beverages* industry. Model (4) estimates the model for the *Footwear* industry. Model (7) estimates the model for the *Electrical machinery, apparatus and appliances, and electrical parts thereof* industry. Model (6) estimates the model for the *Furniture and parts thereof* industry. Model (9) estimates the model for the *Medicinal and pharmaceutical products* industry. Model (10) estimates the model for the *Mineral fuels* industry. Model (11) estimates the model for the *Road vehicles* industry. Model (12) estimates the model for the *Telecommunications and sound-recording and reproducing apparatus and equipment* industry.

5. DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION

In this section, I conclude this thesis. I first turn to an evaluation of the results and put their implications into perspective. Then I evaluate several limitations of this research, while also putting forward some recommendations for future research. I conclude by answering the research questions.

5.1. Implications

Having conducted all the analyses, in this section, I turn to the implications of the results. Overall, I have found consistent support for both my first and second hypotheses. Bilateral trade thus decreased following increasing old-age demographic dependency ratios and consumption ratios. However, support for the third hypothesis is lacking. The models did not return many significant consumption ratios, and thus the effect that I sought to establish seems to be absent. Overall, the effect of the gravity variables stayed very constant throughout all the analyses. This was not the case when introducing importer- and exporter-fixed effects, as these effects likely subsume much of the variation in these variables. In addition, there was quite a big difference between models with just the 65+ dependency and consumption ratios, and those with 65-69 and 70+ ratios. This is because the distribution in both ageing and consumption changes heavily even after age 65. Splitting up these ratios thus provides much more information, changing the coefficients between the different models. Furthermore, the PPML estimations that were depicted in Appendix D show changes in all coefficients relative to the earlier estimations. PPML with robust clustered standard errors tends to be considerably downward biased (Pfaffermayr, 2023). Still, it is useful to consider the results, as the estimator aids in addressing some of the econometric issues discussed in Section 3.

This link that has been found between ageing and trade can be considered a multiplier effect. Namely, there is the effect of increases in the actual size of the elderly which is detrimental. For example, the old-age demographic dependency ratios may influence trade for example through the shrinking of the labour supply of a country, which reduces income and thus import demand (Jafrin et al., 2021; Tian et al., 2011). However, there is also the added effect of changing consumption structures. Specifically, as people age, their private consumption decreases, following life-cycle theory and the retirement-consumption puzzle (Lefèbvre, 2006; Modigliani & Brumberg, 1954, 1990; World Trade Organization, 2013). This

decrease in private consumption as a person ages, combined with the increased share of the elderly in the population, is thus found to be detrimental to international trade.

The reason that these found effects are so important, is that they demonstrate that population ageing can affect the economy in yet another way than once thought. Specifically, as populations age and their consumption patterns change, trade changes according to this, and this may induce sectoral shifts (Lefèbvre, 2006). Therefore, beyond pressuring the pension system and inequality and the like, population ageing influences not only international trade relations, but the sectoral make-up of the economy. This effect is further pressured by population shrinking. The decline in the absolute size of populations, another phenomenon of recent decades, namely leads to a reduced ability to provide goods and services both regionally and nationally, and we thus turn to trade to save this problem. This makes the effect that ageing has on the economy through changes in consumption and trade even more detrimental, and that also makes this strand of literature so important.

This discussion indicates that there is high policy relevance for these effects. The detrimental effect of population ageing on trade needs to be limited, through the use of policies that stimulate consumption in older ages, too, or that facilitate higher levels of trade even as consumption in some industries falters. As such, the detrimental effect that ageing has on trade will have limited repercussions for the domestic economy (Singh, 2010).

5.2. Limitations and Recommendations for Future Studies

Despite the extensive analyses estimated, there are several limitations to this thesis. Firstly, as mentioned already in Section 3, the income data that both the NTA and the AGENTA supply are very accurate, as they are based on income tax reports (Lee & Mason, 2011a; Lee & Mason, 2011b). However, the same cannot be said for their consumption data. Namely, the consumption data is often based on household surveys, and are thus far less accurate. Secondly, the data that the NTA and the AGENTA supply may not be entirely comparable. Namely, the NTA project uses local, country-specific research teams, which can thus take country-specific details into account. The AGENTA project does not rely on such country-specific teams, meaning that its data does not take to these country-specific details so well. However, as it uses a more widespread research team, its accounts serve better for easy comparisons between countries, in addition to distinguishing between genders (Istenič et al., 2016; Lee & Mason, 2017). Thirdly, the level of trade costs over time has declined. Trade costs are difficult to estimate, however, and to that end, distance is used, as well as other trade-facilitating

characteristics, such as contiguity, common language, and EU membership. Nevertheless, these factors do not always accurately display the decrease in trade costs, as most of them are time-invariant (Yotov et al., 2016). For example, once a country has a common border with another country, this is highly unlikely to change. A limitation of gravity models to thus always be mindful of is that trade costs are not always very accurate and may thus be overestimated.

Several recommendations can also be put forward, as avenues for further research while taking the above limitations into account. A first recommendation is to enhance the analysis of the disaggregated trade models by computing consumption ratios that are based on age-specific consumption in consumption purposes related to that trade industry. However, this data is, as of yet, unavailable, but this extension might prove very insightful and much more accurate for the disaggregated analyses should the data become available. A second extension is to use economic dependency ratios instead of consumption ratios. In an earlier version of the analyses these were used, however, as they are mainly a proxy for how consumption is financed, they are not extremely relevant in this particular research. Should one be interested in the effect of sustainability of the pension system on trade, for example, these dependency ratios might be of use. Finally, an extension that might prove to be very insightful is splitting the sample in the disaggregated trade analyses. Namely, as consumption after age 65 changes in different ways for different countries, results may be very mixed. Dividing countries over three different samples, such as 'fairly flat consumption', 'small decrease in consumption', and 'large decrease in consumption' after age 65, might make the results more significant, both statistically and economically.

5.3. Conclusion

This thesis has attempted to estimate the effect of ageing populations on international trade, by continuing upon my previous work (Meijer, 2022). By adding to the analysis through the introduction of the consumption ratios, I use the NTA approach, and thus take a big step forward. Namely, this strategy allows me to distinguish the multiplier effect that population ageing has on international trade. Specifically, as populations age, there is not only a change in the size of elderly people, which influences the level of trade, but there is also the decrease in private consumption patterns in the elderly ages that amplifies this effect. To estimate this effect, the analysis was split up into three parts. Firstly, I estimated the effect of ageing on international trade through the use of various old-age demographic dependency ratios of the importer. In both my baseline and sensitivity analyses, evidence was found that as the

dependency ratio increases, bilateral trade decreases. Therefore, to answer my first subresearch question "Does the dependency ratio of the importer influence the level of bilateral *trade?*", I indeed find this influence. Secondly, I estimated the effect of ageing on international trade by using consumption ratios as proxies for both population ageing and changing consumption behaviour in older ages. Again, in both my baseline and sensitivity analyses, I find that the various combinations of consumption ratios of the importer demonstrate a negative effect; as the consumption ratio increases, bilateral trade decreases. Thus, my second subresearch question, "Does the change in consumption over the life course influence the level of bilateral trade as populations age?" can also be answered in the affirmative. Finally, I take the analysis one step further by disaggregating trade, to see how trade might change as populations age. These analyses are inconclusive, as the industries for which I expected to see a decline, often witness an increase in trade as populations age. Therefore, to answer my third sub-research question "How does bilateral trade change as populations age?", I posit that trade decreases in some industries where the elderly are expected to consume less, and that trade increases in some industries where the elderly are expected to consume more, as hypothesised, however, the evidence is not conclusive for many sectors. This warrants further research. The research question of this thesis is:

"Does the age structure of the importer's population influence the level of bilateral trade?"

Based on the sub-research questions, the hypotheses, and all the analyses, I conclude that the structure of the importer's population indeed influences the level of bilateral trade. The extensive estimations have demonstrated a somewhat robust effect. Namely, when taking solely the age structure of the importer into account, I already find negative effects of ageing on bilateral trade. By taking the step towards including age-specific consumption patterns, I strengthen my findings even more, as the change in the population age structure of the importer influences trade not only through changes in sizes of the elderly population, but also certainly by their levels of private consumption, which changes throughout the life course. Though there is certainly still room for future research, this research has established the importance of considering the effect of population ageing on international trade. Namely, as consumption patterns and thus trade change, they can bring about sectoral shifts (Lefèbvre, 2006). These shifts may have further effects on international trade relations, but most certainly on the domestic economy, further extending the effect that population ageing can have.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

Adam, C. & Cobham, D. (2007). Modelling Multilateral Trade Resistance in a Gravity Model with Exchange Rate Regimes, *Centre for Dynamic Macroeconomic Analysis Conference Papers 2007*, no. 02, pp. 1–48.

Aigner-Walder, B. & Döring, T. (2012). The Effects of Population Ageing on Private Consumption – A Simulation for Austria Based on Household Data up to 2050, *Eurasian Economic Review*, vol. 2, no. 1, pp. 63-80.

Anderson, J.E. & Van Wincoop, E. (2004). Trade Costs, *NBER Working Paper Series*, no. 10480, pp. 1-99.

Battistin, E., Brugiavini, A., Rettore, E., & Weber, G. (2009). The Retirement Consumption Puzzle: Evidence from a Regression Discontinuity Approach, *American Economic Review*, vol. 99, no. 5, pp. 2209-2226.

Baum, C.F. (2000). XTTEST3: Stata Module to Compute Modified Wald Statistic for Groupwise Heteroskedasticity, IDEAS Boston College Department of Economics, Available online: <u>https://ideas.repec.org/c/boc/bocode/s414801.html</u> [Accessed 28 April 2023].

Bengtsson, T. (2010). Introduction, chapter in T. Bengtsson (ed.), *Population Ageing - A Threat* to the Welfare State? The Case of Sweden, Berlin Heidelberg: Springer-Verlag, pp. 1–6.

Bengtsson, T. & Scott, K. (2010). The Ageing Population, chapter in T. Bengtsson (ed.), *Population Ageing - A Threat to the Welfare State? The Case of Sweden*, Berlin Heidelberg: Springer-Verlag, pp. 7-22.

Bengtsson, T. & Scott, K. (2011). Population Ageing and the Future of the Welfare State: The Example of Sweden, *Population and Development Review*, vol. 37, pp. 158-170.

Blake, D. & Mayhew, L. (2006). On The Sustainability of the UK State Pension System in the Light of Population Ageing and Declining Fertility, *The Economic Journal*, vol. 116, no. 512, pp. F286-F305.

Bloom, D.E., Canning, D., & Fink, G. (2011). Implications of Population Aging for Economic Growth, *NBER Working Paper Series*, no. 16705, pp. 1-37.

Bloom, D.E., Canning, D., & Sevilla, J. (2003). Demographic Dividend: A New Perspective on the Economic Consequences of Population Change, *RAND Policy Brief*, no. 5065, pp. 1-4.

Bloom, D.E. & Williamson, J.G. (1998). Demographic Transitions and Economic Miracles in Emerging Asia, *The World Bank Economic Review*, vol. 12, no. 3, pp. 419–455.

Bosworth, B.P., Bryant, R.C., & Burtless, G. (2004). The Impact of Aging on Financial Markets and the Economy, *Center for Retirement Research Working Paper Series*, no. 2004-03, pp. 1-59.

Breusch, T.S. & Pagan R. (1979). A Simple Test for Heteroscedasticity and Random Coefficient Variation, *Econometrica*, vol. 47, pp. 1287-1294.

Cai, J. & Stoyanov, A. (2016). Population Aging and Comparative Advantage, *Journal of International Economics*, vol. 102, pp. 1–21.

Cameron, A.C. & Miller, D.L. (2015). A Practitioner's Guide to Cluster-Robust Inference, *The Journal of Human Resources*, vol. 50, no. 2, pp. 317-372.

Coale, A.J. (1957). How the Age Distribution of a Human Population is Determined, *Cold Spring Harbor Symposia on Quantitative Biology*, vol. 22, pp. 83-89.

Coleman, D. (2002). Replacement Migration, or Why Everyone is Going to Have to Live in Korea: A Fable for our Times from the United Nations, *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society*, vol. 357, pp. 538-598.

Deaton, A. (2005). Franco Modigliani and the Life Cycle Theory of Consumption, *SSRN Electronic Journal*, pp. 1-20.

Deaton, A. & Paxson, C. (1994). Intertemporal Choice and Inequality, *Journal of Political Economy*, vol. 102, no. 3, pp. 437-467.

Ehmer, J. (2017). Demographic Revolutions. How Does an Ageing Population Change Societies? article in J.W. Vaupel & A. Edel (eds.), *Green Book Ageing Society: How 'New Ageing' Will Change our Lives*, Rostock: Max Planck Institute for Demographic Research, pp. 4-8.

Eurostat (2023a). EU Trade Since 1999 By SITC, Available online: <u>https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/databrowser/view/DS-</u> 018995_custom_6029628/default/table?lang=en [Accessed on 26 April 2023].

Eurostat (2023b). HICP Annual Data – Average Index and Rate of Change, Available online: <u>https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/databrowser/view/PRC_HICP_AIND_custom_6029757/default</u>/ <u>/table?lang=en</u> [Accessed 26 April 2023].

Feenstra, R.C. (2016). Advanced International Trade: Theory and Evidence, 2nd ed, Princeton, N.J.: Princeton University Press.

Fukumoto, Y. & Kinugasa, T. (2017). Age Structure and Trade Openness: An Empirical Investigation, *The World Economy*, vol. 40, no. 6, pp. 1247–1263.

Fukumoto, Y. & Kinugasa, T. (2021). Impact of Demographic Indicators on Trade Openness: Evidence from Different Geographic Regions, *Applied Economics Letters*, vol. 28, no. 20, pp. 1772–1776.

Goldstein, J.R. (2009). How Populations Age, chapter in P. Uhlenberg (ed.), *International Handbook of Population Ageing*, Berlin Heidelberg: Springer-Verlag, pp. 7-18.

Gu, K. & Stoyanov, A. (2019). Skills, Population Aging, and the Pattern of International Trade, *Review of International Economics*, vol.27, no. 2, pp. 499–519.

Haider, S.J. & Stephens Jr., M. (2007). Is There a Retirement-Consumption Puzzle? Evidence using Subjective Retirement Expectations, *The Review of Economics and Statistics*, vol. 89, no. 2, pp. 247-264.

Hair, J.F. Jr., Anderson, R.E., Tatham, R.L., & Black, W.C. (1995). Multivariate Data Analysis (3rd ed.), New York, N.Y.: Macmillan.

Head, K. & Mayer, T. (2014). Gravity Equations: Workhorse, Toolkit, and Cookbook, chapter in G. Gopinath, E. Helpman, & K. Rogoff (eds.), *Handbook of International Economics*, vol. 4, London: Oxford, pp. 131–195.

Head, K., Mayer, T., & Ries, J. (2010). The Erosion of Colonial Trade Linkages after Independence, *Journal of International Economics*, vol. 81, no. 1, pp. 1–14.

Higgins, M. (1998). Demography, National Savings, and International Capital Flows, *International Economic Review*, vol. 39, no. 2, pp. 343–369.

Hummels, D. (2001). Toward a Geography of Trade Costs, Unpublished work.

Istenič, T., Hammer, B., Šeme, A., Lotrič Dolinar, A., & Sambt, J. (2016). European National Transfer Accounts, Available online: <u>http://www.wittgensteincentre.org/ntadata</u> [Accessed 6 April 2023].

Jafrin, N., Mahi, M., Masud, M.M., & Ghosh, D. (2021). Demographic Dividend and Economic Growth in Emerging Economies: Fresh Evidence from the SAARC Countries, *International Journal of Social Economics*, vol. 48, no. 8, pp. 1159–1174.

Kohli, M. (2017). Winding Paths. What Can Families Provide in an Ageing Society?, article in J.W. Vaupel & A. Edel (eds.), *Green Book Ageing Society: How 'New Ageing' Will Change our Lives*, Rostock: Max Planck Institute for Demographic Research, pp. 47-51.

Lee, R.D. (1994). The Formal Demography of Population Aging, Transfers, and the Economic Life Cycle, chapter in L. Martin and S. Preston (eds.), *The Demography of Aging*, National Academy Press, pp. 8-49.

Lee, R.D. & Mason, A. (2011a). Generational Economics in a Changing World, *Population and Development Review*, vol. 37, pp. 115-142.

Lee, R.D. & Mason, A. (eds.) (2011b). Population Aging and the Generational Economy: A Global Perspective, Cheltenham: Edward Elgar.

Lee, R.D. & Mason, A. (2019). Analyzing Population Ageing and Intergenerational Redistribution: NTA and AGENTA, *Vienna Yearbook of Population Research*, vol. 17, pp. 1-5.

Lefèbvre, M. (2006). Population Ageing and Consumption Demand in Belgium, *CREPP* Working Paper Series, no. 0604, pp. 1-20.

Li, H. & Mérette, M. (2005) Population Ageing and Pension System Reform in China: A Computable Overlapping-Generations General Equilibrium Model Analysis, *Journal of Chinese Economic and Business Studies*, vol. 3, no., 3, pp. 263-277.

Lindert, P.H. (ed.) (2004). Growing Public: Social Spending and Economic Growth Since the Eighteenth Century, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Lisenkova, K. & Bornukova, K. (2017). Effects of Population Ageing on the Pension System in Belarus, *Baltic Journal of Economics*, vol. 17, no. 2, pp. 103-118.

Maddison, A. (1995). Monitoring the World Economy. Paris: Development Centre of the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development.

Maestas, N., Mullen, K.J., & Powell, D. (2016). The Effect of Population Aging on Economic Growth, the Labor Force, and Productivity, *RAND Working Paper Series*, no. WR1063, pp. 1-53.

Mayer, T. & Zignago, S. (2011). Notes on CEPII's Distances Measures: The GeoDist Database, Available online:

http://www.cepii.fr/CEPII/en/bdd_modele/bdd_modele_item.asp?id=6 [Accessed 3 May 2023].

Meijer, E.D.A. (2022). Demography and Trade: Time for a New World Order, Unpublished Work.

Modigliani, F. & Brumberg, R.H. (1954). Utility Analysis and the Consumption Function: An Interpretation of Cross-Section Data, chapter in K.K. Kurihara (ed.), *Post- Keynesian Economics*, New Brunswick, NJ: Rutgers University Press, pp. 388–436.

Modigliani, F. & Brumberg, R.H. (1990). Utility Analysis and Aggregate Consumption Functions: An Attempt at Integration, chapter in A. Abel (ed.), The Collected Papers of Franco Modigliani, vol. 2, *The Life Cycle Hypothesis of Saving*, Cambridge, MA: The MIT Press, pp. 128–197.

OECD (2023). Inflation, Consumer Price Index (Indicator), Available online: <u>https://data.oecd.org/price/inflation-cpi.htm</u> [Accessed 8 April 2023].

Pfaffermayr, M. (2023). Cross-sectional Gravity Models, PPML Estimation, and the Bias Correction of the Two-Way Cluster-Robust Standard Errors, *Oxford Bulletin of Economics and Statistics*, Early View no. 0305-9049.

Rau, R. (2017). How Many Healthy Years of Life are we Gaining?, article in J.W. Vaupel &A. Edel (eds.), *Green Book Ageing Society: How 'New Ageing' Will Change our Lives*,Rostock: Max Planck Institute for Demographic Research, pp. 9-12.

Razin, A., Sadka, E., & Swagel, P. (2002). The Aging Population and the Size of the Welfare State, *Journal of Political Economy*, vol 110, no. 4, pp. 900-918.

Rowland, D.T. (2009). Global Population Aging: History and Prospects, chapter in P. Uhlenberg (ed.), *International Handbook of Population Ageing*, Berlin Heidelberg: Springer-Verlag, pp. 37-65.

Rybczynski, T.M. (1955). Factor Endowment and Relative Commodity Prices. *Economica*, vol. 22, no. 88, pp. 336–341.

Shepherd, B. (2012). The Gravity Model of International Trade: A User Guide, United Nations.

Singh, T. (2010). Does International Trade Cause Economic Growth? A Survey, *The World Economy*, vol. 33, no. 11, pp. 1517-1564.

Spector, P.E., & Brannick, M.T. (2011). Methodological Urban Legends: The Misuse of Statistical Control Variables, *Organizational Research Methods*, vol. 14, no. 2, pp. 287–305.

Stöver, B. (2012). The Influence of Age on Consumption, *EcoMod Discussion Paper Series*, no. 3808, pp. 1-27.

Tian, W., Yao, Y., Yu, M., & Zhou, Y. (2011). Dependency Ratio and International Trade. *SSRN Electronic Journal*, pp. 1–40.

Tinbergen, J. (1962). Shaping the World Economy Suggestions for an International Economic Policy, New York, N.Y.: The Twentieth Century Fund.

United Nations (2006). Standard International Trade Classification, Revision 4, Department of Economic and Social Affairs Statistics Division, Statistical Papers, no. 34.

United Nations (2015). World Population Ageing 2015, New York: United Nations Population Division.

United Nations (2019). World Population Ageing 2019, New York: United Nations Population Division.

United Nations (2022). World Population Prospects 2022, Available online: <u>https://population.un.org/wpp/</u> [Accessed 8 April 2023].

Wang, C., Wan, G., Luo, Z., & Zhang, X. (2017). Aging and Inequality: The Perspective of Labor Income Share, *ADBI Working Paper Series*, no. 764, pp. 1-17.

World Bank (2023a). Inflation, Consumer Prices (Annual %) (Indicator), Available online: https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/FP.CPI.TOTL.ZG [Accessed 8 April 2023].

64

World Bank (2023b). World Bank Development Indicators, Available online: https://databank.worldbank.org/source/world-development-indicators [Accessed 8 April 2023].

World Trade Organization (2013). World Trade Report 2013: Factors Shaping the Future of World Trade, Geneva: WTO Publications.

Yotov, Y.V., Piermartini, R., Monteiro, J.-A., & Larch, M. (2016). An Advanced Guide to Trade Policy Analysis: The Structural Gravity Model, Geneva: WTO Publications.

APPENDICES

Appendix A. List of Included Variables

Table A 1. List of includ Variable name	ed variables Description	Source
Bilateral trade	Importer-reported bilateral trade values, either	Head & Mayer, 2014
	aggregate or at the SITC industry level. The	
	value is reported in real values. This variable	
	was based on CEPII's Gravity Database.	
Dependency ratio of the	Dependency ratio of the importer, calculated	United Nations, 2022
importer	as the number of persons in the relevant age	
	group, divided by the number of people	
	between ages 20 and 64. This variable was	
	based on the United Nations World	
	Population Prospects Indicators.	
Consumption ratio of the	Consumption ratio of the importer, calculated	Lee & Mason, 2011b
importer	as the aggregate consumption of all persons in	(NTA)
	the relevant age group, relative to the	
	aggregate consumption of the total	Istenič et al., 2016
	population. This variable was based on the	(AGENTA)
	NTA project and AGENTA project data.	
GDP of the exporter	GDP per capita of the exporter, reported in	Head & Mayer, 2014
	real values. This variable was based on	
	CEPII's Gravity Database, which in turn	
	obtained it from the World Bank	
	Development Indicators.	
GDP of the importer	GDP per capita of the importer, reported in	Head & Mayer, 2014
	real values. This variable was based on	
	CEPII's Gravity Database, which in turn	
	obtained it from the World Bank	
	Development Indicators.	
Distance	The distance between the capitals of the	Head & Mayer, 2014
	exporter and the importer, measured in	
	kilometres. This variable was taken from	
	CEPII's Gravity Database, where it was in	
	turn taken from CEPII's GeoDist Database.	

Contiguity	A dummy equal to 1 if the exporter and	Head & Mayer, 2014
	importer are contiguous to one another. This	
	variable was taken from CEPII's Gravity	
	Database, which in turn obtained it from	
	CEPII's GeoDist Database.	
Common official	A dummy equal to 1 if the exporter and the	Head & Mayer, 2014
language	importer share an official or primary	
	language. This variable was taken from	
	CEPII's Gravity Database, which in turn	
	obtained it from CEPII's GeoDist Database.	
Colonial or dependency	A dummy equal to 1 if the exporter and the	Head & Mayer, 2014
relationship between the	importer were ever in a colonial or	
trading partners	dependency relationship. This variable was	
	taken from CEPII's Gravity Database, which	
	in turn derived it from the Colonial Ties	
	Database.	
Sibling relationship	A dummy equal to 1 if the exporter and the	Head & Mayer, 2014
between the trading	importer were ever in a sibling relationship,	
partners	meaning that they ever had the same	
	hegemon. This variable was taken from	
	CEPII's Gravity Database, which in turn	
	derived it from the Colonial Ties Database.	
Trading partners are both	A dummy equal to 1 if the exporter and the	Head & Mayer, 2014
(GATT/) WTO members	importer are both members of the GATT	
	and/or WTO in a certain year. This variable	
	was based on the exporter and importer GATT	
	and WTO membership dummies, obtained	
	from CEPII's Gravity Database, which in turn	
	obtained it from the WTO.	
Trading partners are both	A dummy equal to 1 if the exporter and the	Head & Mayer, 2014
EU members	importer are both members of the European	
	Union in a certain year. This variable was	
	based on the exporter and importer EU	
	membership dummies, obtained from CEPII's	
	Gravity Database, which in turn obtained it	
	from the European Union.	

Share a regional trade	A dummy equal to 1 if the exporter and the	Head & Mayer, 2014
agreement	importer share a regional trade agreement of	
	any type in a certain year. This variable was	
	obtained from CEPII's Gravity Database,	
	which in turn obtained it from the WTO.	

Table B 1. List Alpha-3 code	of included importing cou Country	ntry observations in the NTA gravity dataset Years included
ARG	Argentina	1997, 2010, 2016
AUS	Australia	2004, 2010
AUT	Austria	1995, 2000, 2005, 2010
BEN	Benin	2007
BWA	Botswana	2010
BRA	Brazil	1996, 2002, 2008
BFA	Burkina Faso	2014
KHM	Cambodia	2009
CMR	Cameroon	2014
CAN	Canada	2006, 2011
CAF	Central African Republic	2008
TCD	Chad	2011
CHL	Chile	1987, 1997, 2018
CHN	China	1995, 2002, 2009, 2014
COL	Colombia	2008, 2014
CRI	Costa Rica	2004, 2013
SLV	El Salvador	2010
ETH	Ethiopia	2005
FIN	Finland	2004, 2006
FRA	France	2001, 2005, 2011
GAB	Gabon	2005
GMB	Gambia	2015
DEU	Germany	2003, 2008
GHA	Ghana	2005
GIN	Guinea	2012
GNB	Guinea-Bissau	2010
HUN	Hungary	1995, 2000, 2005
IND	India	2004
IDN	Indonesia	2005
ITA	Italy	2008
JAM	Jamaica	2002
JPN	Japan	2004
KEN	Kenya	1994, 2005

Appendix B. List of Included Observations in NTA Gravity Dataset

LAO	Laos	2012
MDV	Maldives	2010
MLI	Mali	2015
MRT	Mauritania	2014
MEX	Mexico	2004, 2010, 2014
MDA	Moldova	2014
MNG	Mongolia	2014
MOZ	Mozambique	2008
NAM	Namibia	2012
NER	Niger	2014
NGA	Nigeria	2004, 2009, 2016
PRY	Paraguay	2012
PER	Peru	2007, 2014
PHL	Philippines	1990, 1995, 1999, 2000, 2004, 2005, 2007, 2010,
		2011, 2015
POL	Poland	2012
RUS	Russia	2013, 2016
STP	Sao Tome and Principe	2012
SEN	Senegal	2005, 2011
SLE	Sierra Leone	2011
SGP	Singapore	2013
SVN	Slovenia	2004, 2010
ZAF	South Africa	2005
KOR	South Korea	2000, 2010-2019
ESP	Spain	2000
SWZ	Eswatini	2011
SWE	Sweden	2000, 2002-2006
TWN	Taiwan	1993, 1998, 2015
THA	Thailand	1996, 2004, 2011, 2017
TLS	Timor-Leste	2011
TUR	Türkiye	2006
URY	Uruguay	1994, 2006, 2013
USA	United States of America	1981-2003, 2006-2011

Appendix C. List of Included Observations in AGENTA Gravity Dataset

Alpha-3 code	Country
AUT	Austria
BEL	Belgium
BGR	Bulgaria
СҮР	Cyprus
CZE	Czech Republic
DNK	Denmark
EST	Estonia
FIN	Finland
FRA	France
DEU	Germany
GRC	Greece
HUN	Hungary
IRL	Ireland
ITA	Italy
LVA	Latvia
LTU	Lithuania
LUX	Luxembourg
POL	Poland
PRT	Portugal
ROU	Romania
SVK	Slovakia
SVN	Slovenia
ESP	Spain
SWE	Sweden

United Kingdom

GBR

Table C 1. List of included importing country observations in the AGENTA gravity dataset

Appendix D. Alternative Estimations

VARIABLES	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4	Model 5	Model 6	Model 7
Les of (5) Denordence Batis Innortes		0.1401**	0.0241	0.0(50	0.0192	0.0220	1 4/10***
Log of 65+ Dependency Ratio Importer		-0.1491**	0.0241	0.0659	0.0183	0.0228	1.4610***
Los of CDB Emorter	1.0(52***	(0.0657)	(0.0669)	(0.0005)	(0.0009)	(0.06/9)	(0.3123)
Log of GDP Exponer	(0.0142)	(0.0142)	(0.0128)	(0.0127)	(0.0148)	(0.0150)	(0.1110)
Los of CDR lumorter	(0.0145)	(0.0145)	(0.0158)	(0.0157)	(0.0148)	(0.0150)	(0.1119)
Log of GDP Importer	(0.0157)	(0.0100)	(0.0101)	(0.0178)	(0.0175)	(0.0169)	(0.0005)
Log of Distance	(0.0157)	(0.0190)	1.0092***	(0.0178)	(0.0175)	(0.0108)	1.0200***
Log of Distance	-1.192/***	-1.2058****	-1.0982***	-1.0850***	-0.9/34***	-0.9351***	-1.0809***
Continuity Down	(0.0423)	(0.0434)	(0.0492)	(0.0483)	(0.0565)	(0.0560)	(0.0554)
Contiguity Dummy			0.03/1***	0.6300***	0.4312**	0.4906**	0.6042***
Commentation Descent			(0.2146)	(0.21/6)	(0.2082)	(0.2231)	(0.1834)
Common Language Dummy			1.0150***	0.686/***	0.6400***	0.662/***	0.5990***
Coloriston December - Relationship December			(0.0958)	(0.1329)	(0.1325)	(0.1329)	(0.1101)
Colonial or Dependency Relationship Dummy				0.6100**	0./321***	0.5823**	0.6404***
Citie - Delationalis Demonstra				(0.2667)	(0.25/6)	(0.2849)	(0.2074)
Sibling Relationship Dummy				0.5580***	0.5631***	0.4130***	0.5025***
				(0.1298)	(0.1277)	(0.1286)	(0.1125)
Both GATT/WTO Member Dummy					0.1235	0.3551***	-0.0211
					(0.0854)	(0.0868)	(0.1022)
Both EU Member Dummy					-0.2049	-0.4479***	-0.3656***
					(0.1254)	(0.1309)	(0.1277)
RTA Dummy					0.7740***	0.9324***	0.6516***
					(0.0756)	(0.0779)	(0.0760)
Constant	-18.5970***	-19.0457***	-19.5236***	-19.1948***	-20.1766***	-19.3259***	-5.5362***
	(0.4623)	(0.4919)	(0.4979)	(0.4963)	(0.5375)	(0.5615)	(1.9687)
Observations	22,865	22,865	22,753	22,742	22,742	22,742	22,742
Adjusted R-squared	0.6959	0.6960	0.7039	0.7054	0.7084	0.7214	0.7860
Model Significance	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000
Time FE	No	No	No	No	No	Yes	Yes
Importer and Exporter FE	No	No	No	No	No	No	Yes

Table D 1. Complete NTA gravity dataset analyses with 65+ demographic dependency ratio

Notes: *** p < 0.01, ** p < 0.05, * p < 0.1. Robust clustered standard errors in parentheses. Model (1) shows the most reduced version of the gravity model. Model (2) adds the 65+ dependency ratio of the importer. Model (3) adds the country-characteristics variables concerning common borders and common language. Model (4) adds colonial country-characteristics variables concerning dependency or sibling relationships. Model (5) adds trade agreement variables. Model (6) adds time fixed effects, and Model (7) has both time and importer and exporter fixed effects.
VARIABLES	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4
Log of 65+ Dependency Ratio Importer	-0.1774*			
Log of 65-69 Dependency Ratio Importer	(0.1070)	0.0760		
Log of 70+ Dependency Ratio Importer		-0.2061		
Log of 65+ Consumption Ratio Importer		(0.2713)	-0.1106	
Log of 65-69 Consumption Ratio Importer			(0.1177)	0.0169
Log of 70+ Consumption Ratio Importer				(0.1997) -0.1068 (0.1775)
Log of GDP Exporter	0.8614***	0.8615***	0.8615***	0.8616***
Log of GDP Importer	(0.0354) 0.8700***	(0.0352) 0.8718***	(0.0357) 0.8722***	(0.0356) 0.8722***
Log of Distance	(0.0425) -0.3519***	(0.0404) -0.3509***	-0.3490***	(0.0379) -0.3487***
Constant	(0.0805) -14.4092*** (1.4877)	(0.0798) -14.3667*** (1.6768)	(0.0800) -14.3980*** (1.3339)	(0.0797) -14.3819*** (1.4339)
Observations	22,742	22,742	22,742	22,742
R-squared	0.7636	0.7627	0.7627	0.7625
Model Significance	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000
Control for Contiguity	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Control for Common Language	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Control for Colonial or Dependency Relationship	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Control for Sibling Relationship	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Control for Both GATT/WTO Member	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Control for Both EU Member	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Control for RTA	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes

Table D 2. NTA gravity dataset analyses with PPML estimator

Notes: *** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1. Robust clustered standard errors in parentheses. This table contains the results of the PPML estimations of earlier models with the NTA gravity dataset. Model (1) is a PPML estimation which includes the 65+ dependency ratio. Model (2) is a PPML estimation which includes the 65-69 and 70+ dependency ratios. Model (3) is a PPML estimation which includes the 65+ 65-69 and 70+ dependency ratios. Model (3) is a PPML estimation which includes the 65-69 and 70+ consumption ratios.

VARIABLES	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4
Log of 65-69 Dependency Ratio Importer	-0.4527**	1.5790***		
	(0.2079)	(0.1678)		
Log of 70-74 Dependency Ratio Importer	1.9523***			
	(0.2136)			
Log of 75-79 Dependency Ratio Importer	0.6903***			
L COOL Data Inc. Data Lance	(0.2276)	0 703 4+++		
Log of 80+ Dependency Ratio Importer	-1.4540***	-0.7934***		
The Second Company in David Terrar	(0.1291)	(0.0808)	1.0720444	0.0403***
Log of 65-69 Consumption Ratio Importer			-1.0/30***	0.9483***
Los of 20.74 Commention Datis Immented			(0.1/10)	(0.1508)
Log of 70-74 Consumption Ratio Importer			1.9636***	
Log of 75, 70 Consumption Patie Importor			(0.2101)	
Log of 75-79 Consumption Ratio Importer			(0.2120)	
Log of 80+ Concumption Patio Importan			1 0095***	0 4497***
Log of 80+ Consumption Ratio Importer			-1.0083	-0.446/
Log of GDP Exporter	1 2600***	1 2572***	1 2602***	1 2550***
Log of ODF Exponer	(0.0147)	(0.0147)	(0.0147)	(0.0147)
Log of GDP Importer	1 1220***	1 1100***	1 1028***	1 1013***
Log of OD/ Importer	(0.0177)	(0.0177)	(0.0178)	(0.0178)
Log of Distance	_0.0318***	-0.9626***	-0.0401***	-0 0723***
Log of Distance	(0.0570)	(0.0564)	(0.0570)	(0.0564)
Constant	-18 5109***	-18 4802***	-18 3821***	-18 4974***
Constant	(0.5930)	(0.5932)	(0.5918)	(0.5916)
	(0.5550)	(0.5752)	(0.5510)	(0.5910)
Observations	22.742	22.742	22.742	22.742
Adjusted R-squared	0.7130	0.7107	0.7123	0.7097
Model Significance	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000
Control for Contiguity	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Control for Common Language	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Control for Colonial or Dependency Relationship	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Control for Sibling Relationship	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Control for Both GATT/WTO Member	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Control for Both EU Member	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Control for RTA	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes

Table D 3. NTA gravity dataset analyses with alternative IV combinations

Notes: *** p < 0.01, ** p < 0.05, * p < 0.1. Robust clustered standard errors in parentheses. Model (1) is an OLS regression model which includes dependency ratios of all four age groups. Model (2) is an OLS regression which includes dependency ratios for the 65-69 and 80+ age groups to reduce multicollinearity concerns. Model (3) is an OLS regression model which includes consumption ratios for all four age groups. Model (4) is an OLS regression model which includes consumption ratios for the 65-69 and 80+ age groups to reduce multicollinearity concerns.

VARIABLES	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4	Model 5	Model 6
Teo 665 December Della Locata		0.510/**	0.4077***	0.7/05***	0.70/0444	1 7501
Log of 65+ Dependency Ratio Importer		0.5106**	0.68//***	0.7605***	0./968***	-1./501
Log of CDP Exporter	1 2109***	(0.2303)	(0.2399)	(0.2404)	(0.2350)	(2.00//)
Log of ODF Exporter	(0.0164)	(0.0165)	(0.0166)	(0.0166)	(0.0173)	(0.8040)
Log of GDP Importer	1 2596***	1 2365***	1 2095***	1 2019***	1 2085***	0.9515***
Log of GD1 Importer	(0.0245)	(0.0274)	(0.0280)	(0.0280)	(0.0276)	(0 2259)
Log of Distance	-1.2566***	-1.2560***	-1.2125***	-1.1931***	-0.9281***	-1.6041***
Log of Distance	(0.0381)	(0.0379)	(0.0400)	(0.0392)	(0.0583)	(0.1129)
Contiguity Dummy	(0.0501)	(0.0577)	0.6971***	0.6725***	0.7004***	-0.2648
contiguity Duning			(0.2572)	(0.2430)	(0.2532)	(0.2265)
Common Language Dummy			0.9172***	0.4259**	0.3583**	0.4458***
			(0.1569)	(0.1808)	(0.1767)	(0.1626)
Colonial or Dependency Relationship Dummy			(,	1.1950***	1.2592***	1.1806***
				(0.1961)	(0.1920)	(0.1905)
Sibling Relationship Dummy				0.5721***	0.8383***	0.7598***
с і <i>ў</i>				(0.2052)	(0.1992)	(0.1804)
Both WTO Member Dummy				. ,	0.8773***	10.6864***
-					(0.1356)	(1.7728)
Both EU Member Dummy					0.9462***	4.4227
					(0.1042)	(3.3072)
RTA Dummy					0.1758*	3.6089***
					(0.1040)	(0.5378)
Constant	-20.8656***	-19.8381***	-19.6442***	-19.7016***	-22.1867***	2.5926
	(0.5835)	(0.7752)	(0.7765)	(0.7658)	(0.8308)	(11.3122)
Observations	4,127	4,127	4,079	4,079	4,079	4,079
Adjusted R-squared	0.7059	0.7062	0.7100	0.7121	0.7234	0.8147
Model Significance	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000
Importer and Exporter FE	No	No	No	No	No	Yes

Table D 4. Complete AGENTA gravity dataset analyses with 65+ demographic dependency ratio

Notes: *** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1. Robust clustered standard errors in parentheses. Model (1) shows the most reduced version of the gravity model. Model (2) adds the 65+ dependency ratio of the importer. Model (3) adds the country-characteristics variables concerning common borders and common language. Model (4) adds colonial country-characteristics variables concerning dependency or sibling relationships. Model (5) adds trade agreement variables. Model (6) adds importer and exporter fixed effects.

VARIABLES	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4
Log of 65+ Dependency Ratio Importer	0.5723**			
Log of op * Dependency rand importer	(0.2776)			
Log of 65-69 Dependency Ratio Importer		0.5383**		
Lan af 70 Dener den en Datia Investor		(0.2465)		
Log of 70+ Dependency Ratio importer		(0.0739)		
Log of 65+ Consumption Ratio Importer		(0.0755)	0.4191*	
			(0.2244)	
Log of 65-69 Consumption Ratio Importer				0.4775
Log of 70+ Consumption Paris Importor				(0.3837)
Log of 70+ Consumption Ratio Importer				(0.2595)
Log of GDP Exporter	0.8195***	0.8195***	0.8170***	0.8174***
	(0.0221)	(0.0221)	(0.0224)	(0.0224)
Log of GDP Importer	0.7737***	0.7934***	0.7927***	0.7925***
Log of Distance	(0.0321)	(0.0358)	(0.0300)	(0.0299) 0.4222***
Log of Distance	(0.0926)	(0.0919)	(0.0935)	(0.0929)
Constant	-10.6676***	-10.3669***	-10.3517***	-8.7498***
	(1.0790)	(1.0966)	(1.2824)	(1.8580)
	4.050	1.070	4.050	1.050
Observations	4,079	4,079	4,079	4,079
K-squared	0.7362	0.7389	0.7329	0.7342
Model Significance	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000
Control for Contiguity	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Control for Common Language	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Control for Colonial or Dependency Relationship	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Control for Sibling Relationship	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Control for Both WTO Member	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Control for Both EU Member	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Control for RTA	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes

Table D 5. AGENTA gravity dataset analyses with PPML estimator

Notes: *** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1. Robust clustered standard errors in parentheses. This table contains the results of the PPML estimations of earlier models with the AGENTA gravity dataset. Model (1) is a PPML estimation which includes the 65+ dependency ratio. Model (2) is a PPML estimation which includes the 65-69 and 70+ dependency ratios. Model (3) is a PPML estimation which includes the 65+ consumption ratio. Model (4) is a PPML estimation which includes the 65-69 and 70+ consumption ratios.

VARIABLES	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4
Log of 65-69 Dependency Ratio Importer	-1.3815***	-1.4726***		
	(0.4460)	(0.3337)		
Log of 70-74 Dependency Ratio Importer	0.1648			
	(0.4992)			
Log of 75-79 Dependency Ratio Importer	1.8259***			
	(0.6243)			
Log of 80+ Dependency Ratio Importer	-0.1770	1.4468***		
	(0.4696)	(0.2581)		
Log of 65-69 Consumption Ratio Importer			1.3491***	-0.1984
			(0.4382)	(0.3409)
Log of 70-74 Consumption Ratio Importer			-3.5028***	
			(0.5605)	
Log of 75-79 Consumption Ratio Importer			3.5285***	
			(0.5498)	
Log of 80+ Consumption Ratio Importer			-1.6623***	-0.6247***
			(0.3080)	(0.1881)
Log of GDP Exporter	1.2652***	1.2663***	1.2652***	1.2669***
	(0.0172)	(0.0173)	(0.0173)	(0.0173)
Log of GDP Importer	1.2194***	1.1459***	1.3065***	1.2860***
	(0.0349)	(0.0319)	(0.0261)	(0.0260)
Log of Distance	-0.9208***	-0.9354***	-0.9356***	-0.9333***
	(0.0585)	(0.0586)	(0.0582)	(0.0584)
Constant	-21.7058***	-22.1395***	-28.3013***	-30.0849***
	(1.1052)	(1.0674)	(1.6208)	(1.6000)
Observations	4 079	4 079	4 079	4 079
Adjusted R-squared	0.7261	0.7246	0.7278	0.7245
Model Significance	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000
Control for Contiguity	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Control for Common Language	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Control for Colonial or Dependency Relationship	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Control for Sibling Relationship	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Control for Both WTO Member	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Control for Both EU Member	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Control for RTA	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes

Table D 6. AGENTA gravity dataset analyses with alternative IV combinations

Notes: *** p < 0.01, ** p < 0.05, * p < 0.1. Robust clustered standard errors in parentheses. Model (1) is an OLS regression model which includes dependency ratios of all four age groups. Model (2) is an OLS regression which includes dependency ratios for the 65-69 and 80+ age groups to reduce multicollinearity concerns. Model (3) is an OLS regression model which includes consumption ratios for all four age groups. Model (4) is an OLS regression model which includes consumption ratios for the 65-69 and 80+ age groups to reduce multicollinearity concerns.

	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4	Model 5	Model 6	Model 7	Model 8	Model 9	Model 10	Model 11	Model 12	Model 13
		Non-Alc.	Alc.									Other Trans.	Telecomm.
VARIABLES	Food	Beverages	Beverages	Tobacco	Apparel	Footwear	Appliances	Furniture	Medicine	Fuels	Vehicles	Equip.	Equip.
Log of 65-69 Consumption Ratio Importer	0.4003	2.8529**	0.0173	-2.8645**	2.7351***	2.3162**	2.5157***	0.1074	0.4756	1.3418	-0.9885	-0.8035	1.9611**
	(0.5749)	(1.1962)	(0.9299)	(1.4399)	(0.6941)	(0.9890)	(0.5750)	(0.7572)	(0.8828)	(1.3660)	(0.7551)	(1.1577)	(0.8808)
Log of 70-74 Consumption Ratio Importer	0.1363	-0.3112	-0.4421	-7.1462***	-4.6162***	-6.1802***	-1.4549**	-0.3389	0.4844	-1.9017	1.8756**	2.1754*	3.7732***
	(0.7522)	(1.4790)	(1.2608)	(1.6384)	(0.8517)	(1.1258)	(0.6702)	(0.8894)	(1.1369)	(1.5504)	(0.8028)	(1.2540)	(0.9994)
Log of 75-79 Consumption Ratio Importer	3.7462***	4.8147***	2.9552**	11.6341***	4.9606***	7.2495***	3.0380***	2.9164***	5.0736***	2.7713*	0.9402	1.4771	-1.0164
	(0.6734)	(1.4464)	(1.2213)	(1.6842)	(0.7814)	(1.0834)	(0.6872)	(0.9819)	(1.0387)	(1.5382)	(0.8699)	(1.2186)	(0.9592)
Log of 80+ Consumption Ratio Importer	-3.3466***	-6.0991***	-2.0633***	-1.8875**	-2.2105***	-2.6028***	-1.9997***	-1.9105***	-4.1407***	-2.0513**	-0.7572	-2.4151***	-0.6482
	(0.3836)	(0.9207)	(0.6553)	(0.9278)	(0.4758)	(0.6830)	(0.3877)	(0.6319)	(0.6502)	(0.9660)	(0.5142)	(0.7677)	(0.5755)
Log of GDP Exporter	0.8827***	0.4768***	0.6438***	0.7094***	1.0321***	0.8602***	0.9482***	1.0385***	0.8337***	0.8451***	1.0070***	1.0575***	0.8673***
	(0.0377)	(0.0671)	(0.0565)	(0.1039)	(0.0422)	(0.0609)	(0.0392)	(0.0567)	(0.0536)	(0.0787)	(0.0477)	(0.0689)	(0.0481)
Log of GDP Importer	1.1089***	1.0913***	1.3816***	0.7779***	1.2626***	1.4384***	1.0656***	0.8643***	1.3194***	1.0280***	1.2463***	1.3679***	0.8335***
	(0.0426)	(0.0853)	(0.0596)	(0.1110)	(0.0443)	(0.0645)	(0.0466)	(0.0621)	(0.0600)	(0.0789)	(0.0493)	(0.0737)	(0.0517)
Log of Distance	-0.8888***	-1.0047***	-0.1796	-0.6557**	-1.3814***	-1.6706***	-1.4795***	-1.6191***	-0.7584***	-2.0022***	-1.6996***	-1.2256***	-1.4085***
	(0.1320)	(0.1934)	(0.1976)	(0.2527)	(0.1717)	(0.1972)	(0.1446)	(0.1876)	(0.1591)	(0.2502)	(0.1764)	(0.2369)	(0.1796)
Constant	-9.6803***	-9.7489**	-19.3177***	-10.6723*	-10.9094***	-11.2405***	2.5308	-4.1532	-9.2568***	-5.0884	-3.6735	-18.9150***	18.8567***
	(2.3423)	(4.6271)	(3.7729)	(5.7899)	(2.3523)	(3.9924)	(2.2327)	(3.9204)	(3.3771)	(5.3201)	(3.7119)	(4.5052)	(3.4024)
Observations	606	464	540	200	502		506	505	575	620	601	505	505
Adjusted P. squared	390	404	540	0 2064	0 7386	0.6313	0.7554	285	5/5	529	0 7070	505	595
Model Significance	0.7555	0.4004	0.3043	0.3004	0.7580	0.0313	0.7554	0.0010	0.5801	0.4807	0.7079	0.5501	0.0140
Control for Contiguity	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000 Vec	0.0000	0.0000 Xee	0.0000 Vec	V.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000
Control for Common Language	Vac	Vec	Ver	Vec	Vec	Vec	Vec	Vac	Vac	Vac	Vec	Ves	Vac
Control for Colonial or Dependency: Palationship	Vac	Vec	Vec	Vec	Vec	Vec	Vec	Vac	Vac	Vec	Vec	Vec	Vac
Control for Colonial of Dependency Relationship	Vec	Vec	Ves	Vec	1 cs Vec	Ves	Vec	Vac	Vec	Vec	Vec	Ves	Vec
Control for Both WTO Mombar	Vac	Vac	Vec	Vac	Vec	Vec	Vac	Vac	Vac	Vac	Vec	Vec	Vac
Control for Both EII Mambar	Vac	Vac	Vec	Vac	1 CS	Vec	Vac	Vac	Vac	Vac	Vec	Vec	Vac
Control for DTA	Vac	Vec	Vec	Vec	1 CS	Vec	T es	I es	Vac	Vac	Vec	Vec	I es
Control for KTA	I CS	1 es	ICS	I CS	res	1 05	res	I CS	I CS	I CS	1 68	1 05	1 cs

Table D 7. Alternative disaggregated analyses with all consumption ratios

Notes: *** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1. Robust clustered standard errors in parentheses. The estimation in this table is the most complete specification, with the 65-69, 70-74, 75-79, and 80+ consumption ratio of the importer. It is a regression model without fixed effects. Model (1) estimates the model for the *Food and live animals* industry. Model (2) estimates the model for the *Non-alcoholic beverages* industry. Model (3) estimates the model for the *Alcoholic beverages* industry. Model (4) estimates the model for the *Tobacco and tobacco manufactures* industry. Model (5) estimates the model for the *Articles of apparel; clothing accessories* industry. Model (6) estimates the model for the *Furniture and parts thereof* industry. Model (7) estimates the model for the *Medicinal and pharmaceutical products* industry. Model (10) estimates the model for the *Mineral fuels* industry. Model (11) estimates the model for the *Road vehicles* industry. Model (12) estimates the model for the *Telecommunications and sound-recording and reproducing apparatus and equipment* industry.

	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4	Model 5	Model 6	Model 7	Model 8	Model 9	Model 10	Model 11	Model 12	Model 13
		Non-Alc.	Alc.									Other Trans.	Telecomm.
VARIABLES	Food	Beverages	Beverages	Tobacco	Apparel	Footwear	Appliances	Furniture	Medicine	Fuels	Vehicles	Equip.	Equip.
Log of 65-69 Consumption Ratio Importer	0.9165*	3.0832***	0.1366	-4.6485***	0.7642	-0.3192	2.0604***	0.2306	1.2942*	0.5632	0.1540	0.4880	3.9308***
	(0.4920)	(0.9282)	(0.7421)	(1.2248)	(0.5728)	(0.7689)	(0.4727)	(0.6460)	(0.7348)	(1.0692)	(0.6684)	(0.9491)	(0.7741)
Log of 80+ Consumption Ratio Importer	-0.7509***	-2.8188***	-0.2219	3.2548***	-0.6230**	-0.0270	-0.4960**	-0.0652	-0.4772	-0.8989	0.6071	-0.5549	0.1127
	(0.2584)	(0.6074)	(0.4101)	(0.7128)	(0.2953)	(0.4270)	(0.2495)	(0.4132)	(0.4242)	(0.5855)	(0.3707)	(0.5100)	(0.3898)
Log of GDP Exporter	0.8757***	0.4648***	0.6375***	0.6624***	1.0290***	0.8518***	0.9451***	1.0312***	0.8185***	0.8433***	1.0025***	1.0486***	0.8624***
	(0.0398)	(0.0673)	(0.0577)	(0.1097)	(0.0438)	(0.0624)	(0.0397)	(0.0564)	(0.0542)	(0.0788)	(0.0474)	(0.0702)	(0.0489)
Log of GDP Importer	1.0742***	1.0156***	1.3527***	0.5878***	1.2307***	1.3850***	1.0415***	0.8381***	1.2610***	1.0107***	1.2317***	1.3439***	0.8308***
	(0.0422)	(0.0794)	(0.0581)	(0.1079)	(0.0436)	(0.0629)	(0.0457)	(0.0611)	(0.0581)	(0.0784)	(0.0484)	(0.0744)	(0.0516)
Log of Distance	-0.9529***	-1.0427***	-0.2139	-0.6324**	-1.3201***	-1.5982***	-1.4817***	-1.6516***	-0.8510***	-1.9979***	-1.7699***	-1.3272***	-1.5031***
	(0.1389)	(0.2050)	(0.1966)	(0.2813)	(0.1667)	(0.1938)	(0.1442)	(0.1861)	(0.1790)	(0.2470)	(0.1798)	(0.2476)	(0.1811)
Constant	-9.9747***	-9.9185**	-19.5750***	-7.8534	-13.3756***	-14.5859***	1.5723	-4.7729	-9.3330***	-6.4265	-2.9664	-18.2693***	20.5766***
	(2.3921)	(4.8421)	(3.8920)	(5.9309)	(2.4240)	(3.9930)	(2.3087)	(4.0328)	(3.5681)	(5.2711)	(3.8002)	(4.6262)	(3.5023)
Observations	596	464	540	388	593	558	596	585	575	529	591	505	595
Adjusted R-squared	0.7316	0.4433	0.5560	0.2435	0.7251	0.6079	0.7487	0.5928	0.5452	0.4858	0.7010	0.5458	0.6028
Model Significance	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000
Control for Contiguity	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Control for Common Language	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Control for Colonial or Dependency Relationship	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Control for Sibling Relationship	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Control for Both WTO Member	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Control for Both EU Member	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Control for RTA	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes

Table D 8. Alternative disaggregated analyses with 65-69 and 80+ consumption ratios

Notes: *** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1. Robust clustered standard errors in parentheses. The estimation in this table is the most complete specification, with the 65-69 and 80+ consumption ratio of the importer. It is a regression model without fixed effects. Model (1) estimates the model for the *Food and live animals* industry. Model (2) estimates the model for the *Non-alcoholic beverages* industry. Model (3) estimates the model for the *Alcoholic beverages* industry. Model (4) estimates the model for the *Footwear* industry. Model (7) estimates the model for the *Electrical machinery, apparatus and appliances, and electrical parts thereof* industry. Model (8) estimates the model for the *Furniture and parts thereof* industry. Model (9) estimates the model for the *Mineral fuels* industry. Model (11) estimates the model for the *Road vehicles* industry. Model (12) estimates the model for the *Other transport equipment* industry. Model (13) estimates the model for the *Telecommunications and sound-recording and reproducing apparatus and equipment* industry.